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A�member��rm�of�Ernst�&�Young�Global�Limited

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholders of 
VersaBank 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of VersaBank [the “Bank”], which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheets as at October 31, 2025 and 2024, and the consolidated statements of income and 
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statements 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Bank as at October 31, 2025 and 2024, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards [“IFRSs”] as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to 
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Allowance for Credit Losses [“ECL”] 

We draw attention to note 6 of the consolidated 
financial statements which describes the methodology 
used in determining the allowance for credit losses 
over the Bank’s commercial real estate mortgages. 
The Bank recorded an allowance for credit losses of 
$7.3 million using an expected credit loss model 
[“ECL”] relating to commercial real estate mortgages. 
The ECL allowance represents an unbiased 
probability-weighted expected loss amount, which 
considers multiple economic scenarios. Forward-
looking information [“FLI”] is explicitly incorporated 
into the estimation of ECL allowances. ECL 
allowances are measured based on the expected 
cash shortfalls of the financial instruments resulting in 
either a 12-month ECL amount or a lifetime ECL 
amount for those financial instruments that have 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk [SICR] 
since initial recognition. Management uses expert 
credit judgment to reflect factors not captured by 
quantitative models. 

Auditing the allowance for credit losses over the 
Bank’s commercial real estate mortgages was 
complex, involved significant auditor judgment, and 
required the involvement of specialists due to the 
inherent complexity of the models, assumptions, 
judgments, and the interrelationship of these variables 
in measuring the ECL. Significant assumptions and 
judgments with respect to the estimation of the 
allowance for credit losses include [i] the 
determination of when a loan has experienced a SICR 
since initial recognition; [ii] the selection and 
forecasting of FLI for multiple economic scenarios and 
the probability weighting of those scenarios; and [iii] 
the application of expert credit judgment in the 
application of management overlays. The allowance 
for credit losses over commercial real estate 
mortgages is a significant estimate for which 
variations in these inputs, assumptions, and 
judgments can have a material effect on the 
measurement of expected credit losses. 

We obtained an understanding of management’s 
process of estimating ECL allowance for commercial 
real estate mortgages. With the assistance of our 
credit risk specialists, we assessed whether the 
methodology and assumptions used in models that 
estimate ECL are consistent with the requirements of 
IFRS 9. This included an assessment of criteria used 
to determine whether there has been a SICR and 
recalculated this staging for a sample of loans.  

We evaluated a sample of management’s economic 
scenarios and the associated probability weights 
assigned to these scenarios within the ECL model. 
On a sample basis, we recalculated the ECL to test 
the mathematical accuracy of management’s 
models. We tested the completeness and accuracy 
of the data used in measuring the ECL by agreeing 
to source documents and systems and evaluated a 
sample of management’s risk ratings against the 
Bank’s risk rating policy. We assessed the 
application of management’s expert credit judgment, 
with the assistance of our credit risk specialists, by 
evaluating that the amounts recorded and overlays 
applied were appropriate and reflective of the 
underlying credit quality of the portfolio, model risk, 
and macroeconomic trends. We also assessed the 
adequacy of the allowance for credit loss financial 
statement note disclosures. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 

• Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information, and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained Management’s Discussion & Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report. If based on the 
work we will perform on this other information, we conclude there is a material misstatement of other information, 
we are required to report that fact to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 
statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Bank’s internal control.
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Bank to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Andrea Feddema. 

London, Canada 
December 9, 2025 
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VERSABANK 
Consolidated Balance Sheets  
As at October 31, 2025 and 2024 
 

  
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 
  
   
  

David R. Taylor  Hon. Frank J. C. Newbould 
President   Chair of the Board 
 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Assets

Cash (note 4) 581,710$    225,254$    

Securities (note 5) 80,923       299,300      

Credit assets, net of allowance for credit losses (note 6) 5,066,378   4,236,116   

Property and equipment (note 7) 23,936       23,885       

Goodwill (note 8) 12,301       12,301       

Intangible assets (note 9) 10,560       12,054       

Other assets (note 10) 32,667       29,574       

5,808,475$ 4,838,484$ 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Deposits (note 11) 4,860,863$ 4,144,673$ 

Subordinated notes payable (note 12) 103,516      102,503      

Other liabilities (note 13) 311,423      192,105      

5,275,802   4,439,281   

Shareholders' equity:

Share capital (note 14) 325,910      215,610      

Contributed surplus 2,473         2,485         

Retained earnings 203,728      181,238      

Accumulated other comprehensive income 562            (130)           

532,673      399,203      

5,808,475$ 4,838,484$ 



 2 

VERSABANK 
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income 
Years ended October 31, 2025 and 2024 
 

  
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

2025 2024

Interest income:

Credit assets 273,533$      264,881$      

Other 22,147         20,538         

295,680       285,419       

Interest expense:

Deposits and other 174,010       177,094       

Subordinated notes 5,502           5,670           

179,512       182,764       

Net interest income 116,168       102,655       

Non-interest income 8,473           8,978           

Total revenue 124,641       111,633       

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses (note 6(b)) 4,413           (268)             

120,228       111,901       

Non-interest expenses:

Salaries and benefits 37,984         32,784         

General and administrative 33,727         19,169         

Premises and equipment 7,024           5,155           

78,735         57,108         

Income before income taxes 41,493         54,793         

Income tax provision (note 16) 13,035         15,045         

Net income 28,458$       39,748$       

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to net income:

Foreign exchange gain (loss) on translation of

692              (261)             

Comprehensive income 29,150$       39,487$       

Basic and diluted income per common share (note 17) 0.90$           1.49$           

     foreign operations
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VERSABANK 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
Years ended October 31, 2025 and 2024 

 
  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Common shares (note 14):

Balance, beginning of the year 215,610$    214,824$    

Options exercised during the year 108            786            

Purchased and cancelled during the year (6,137)        -                

Issued during the period 114,772      -                

Share issue cost adjustment 1,557         -                

Balance, end of the year 325,910$    215,610$    

Preferred shares (note 14):

Series 1 preferred shares

Balance, beginning of the year -$               13,647$      

Redemption of preferred shares -                (13,647)       

Balance, end of the year -$               -$               

Total share capital 325,910$    215,610$    

Contributed surplus:

Balance, beginning of the year 2,485$        2,513$        

Stock-based compensation (note 15) 61              168            

Tax adjustment relating to cancelled common shares (73)             -                

Part VI tax -                (196)           

Balance, end of the year 2,473$        2,485$        

Retained earnings:

Balance, beginning of the year 181,238$    146,043$    

Adjustment for purchased and cancelled common shares (2,990)        -                

Transfer of transaction costs on redemption of Series 1,

   preferred shares (note 14) -                (965)           

Tax adjustment related to prior years 257            -                

Net income 28,458        39,748        

Dividends paid on common and preferred shares (3,235)        (3,588)        

Balance, end of the year 203,728$    181,238$    

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:

Balance, beginning of the year (130)$         131$          

Other comprehensive income (loss) 692            (261)           

Balance, end of the year 562$          (130)$         

Total shareholders' equity 532,673$    399,203$    
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VERSABANK 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended October 31, 2025 and 2024 
 

   
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:

Net income 28,458$      39,748$      

Adjustments to determine net cash flows:

Items not involving cash:

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses 4,413         (268)           

Stock-based compensation 81              348            

Income tax provision 13,035       15,045       

Interest income (295,680)     (285,419)     

Interest expense 179,512      182,764      

Impairment of assets -                415            

Amortization 3,101         2,634         

Accretion of discount on securities (150)           (373)           

Foreign exchange rate change on assets and liabilities 3,061         (1,560)        

Interest received 293,416      276,883      

Interest paid (186,917)     (167,657)     

Income taxes paid (14,429)      (19,719)      

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Credit assets (829,788)     (307,844)     

Deposits 723,842      523,278      

Change in other assets and liabilities 122,495      14,430       

44,450       272,705      

Investing:

Acquisition of Stearns Bank Holdingford N.A.,

   net of cash acquired -                (12,116)      

Foreign exchange forward settlement (5,315)        -                

Sale of securities 218,527      (126,889)     

Purchase of property and equipment (954)           (18,578)      

212,258      (157,583)     

Financing:

Issuance of common shares, net of issue costs 114,772      607            

Purchase and cancellation of common shares (9,127)        -                

Redemption of subordinated notes payable (note 12) -                (5,000)        

Redemption of preferred shares (note 14) -                (14,615)      

Dividends paid (3,235)        (3,588)        

Repayment of lease obligations (367)           (736)           

102,043      (23,332)      

Change in cash 358,752      91,790       

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (2,296)        1,222         

Cash, beginning of year 225,254      132,242      

Cash, end of year 581,710$    225,254$    
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1. Reporting entity: 

In Canada, VersaBank (the “Bank”) operates as a Schedule I bank under the Bank Act (Canada) and 

is regulated by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada (“OSFI”). Following its 

acquisition of Stearns Bank Holdingford N.A. and renaming it VersaBank USA N.A. (“VersaBank USA”), 

on August 30, 2024, in the United States, the Bank, through its wholly owned subsidiary, VersaBank 

USA, holds a national Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”) charter and is regulated by the 

OCC (note 26). The Bank, whose shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange and Nasdaq, provides 

primarily commercial lending and banking services to select niche markets in Canada and the United 

States as well as cybersecurity services through the operations of its wholly owned subsidiary DRT 

Cyber Inc., (“DRTC”). The Bank is incorporated and domiciled in Canada, and maintains its registered 

office at Suite 2002, 140 Fullarton Street, London, Ontario, Canada, N6A 5P2.   

2. Basis of preparation: 

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Bank Act 

(Canada). OSFI has instructed that the financial statements are to be prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The significant accounting policies used in the 

preparation of these consolidated financial statements, including the accounting requirements of OSFI, 

are summarized below.  

a) Statement of compliance: 

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

b) Date authorized for issuance: 

These Consolidated Financial Statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of 

Directors of the Bank on December 09, 2025.  

c) Basis of measurement: 

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except 

for assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination which are measured at fair value at the 

date of acquisition, securities (see note 5), the investment in Canada Stablecorp Inc. (see note 10), 

and derivatives (see note 18),  which are also measured at fair value in the Consolidated Balance 

Sheets. 

d) Functional and presentation currency: 

These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the Bank’s 

functional currency. Functional currency is also determined for each of the Bank’s subsidiaries and 

items included in the financial statements of the subsidiaries are measured using their functional 

currency (see note 3 m) – Foreign currency translation). 
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2. Basis of preparation – continued: 

e) Use of estimates and judgments: 

In preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements, management has exercised judgment and 

developed estimates in applying accounting policies and generating reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and income and expenses during the reporting 

periods. Areas where judgement was applied include assessing significant increases in credit risk 

on financial assets since initial recognition and in the selection of relevant forward-looking 

information as described in note 3e – Financial instruments. Estimates are applied in the 

determination of the allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets, the fair value of stock 

options granted, the fair value of derivatives, the impairment test applied to intangible assets and 

goodwill, the measurement of deferred income taxes and the revaluation of fixed assets. It is 

reasonably possible, on the basis of existing knowledge, that actual results may vary from those 

expected in the development of these estimates. This could result in material adjustments to the 

carrying amounts of assets and/or liabilities affected in the future. 

Estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are applied prospectively once they are known. 

3. Material accounting policies: 

The material accounting policies used in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements 

were applied consistently to all years and are summarized below: 

a) Principles of consolidation: 

The Bank currently holds 100% of the common shares of DRT Cyber Inc., VersaHoldings US Corp. 

and VersaJet Inc. DRT Cyber Inc. holds 100% of the common shares of Digital Boundary Group 

Canada Inc. and Digital Boundary Group Inc. (“Digital Boundary Group” or “DBG”). VersaHoldings 

US Corp. holds 100% of the common shares of VersaFinance US Corp and 100% of the common 

shares of VersaBank USA. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of these 

subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

b) Segment reporting: 

The Bank’s management has established four reportable operating segments, those being Digital 

Banking Canada, Digital Banking USA, DRTC, and Digital Meteor. Details of the Bank’s segment 

reporting are set out in note 25. 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

c)  Business combinations 

The Bank applies IFRS 3: Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) in its accounting for business 

combinations using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value 

of the consideration, including contingent consideration if applicable, at the acquisition date. A 

contingent consideration is a financial instrument and, as such, is remeasured each period 

thereafter with the adjustment recorded to acquisition-related fair value changes in the consolidated 

statements of income and comprehensive income. Acquisition-related costs are recognized as an 

expense in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. The acquired identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, including, if 

applicable, any amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, over the net of the 

recognized amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

d) Revenue recognition: 

Interest income on cash, securities and credit assets is recognized in net interest income using the 

effective interest rate method over the expected life of the instrument. Interest income earned but 

not yet collected on cash, securities and credit assets is included in the respective cash, securities 

and credit assets categories on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

Interest income is recognized on impaired credit assets and is accrued using the rate of interest 

used to discount the future cash flows for purposes of measuring the impairment loss. Credit asset 

fees integral to the yield on the credit asset are amortized to interest income using the effective 

interest rate method; otherwise, the fees are recorded in non-interest income.  

The Bank’s non-interest income stream is substantially derived from the operations of DRTC and 

its wholly owned subsidiaries. DRTC generates professional services revenue primarily from fees 

charged for IT security assurance services, supervisory control and data acquisition system 

assessments, as well as IT security training. Revenue is recognized when service is rendered and 

performance obligations have been satisfied and no material uncertainties remain as to the 

collection of receivables. 

e)  Financial instruments:  

Classification and measurement  

Under IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), all financial assets, with the exception of equity 

and derivatives, must be classified at initial recognition as a function of the financial asset’s 

contractual cash flow characteristics and the business model under which the financial asset is 

managed. These financial assets are initially measured at fair value, and are classified and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through profit or loss or fair value through  
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

e)  Financial instruments – continued: 

other comprehensive income. Financial assets are required to be reclassified when the business 

model under which they are managed has changed. Any reclassifications are applied prospectively 

from the reclassification date. All financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost unless elected 

otherwise. 

Debt instruments 

Financial assets that are debt instruments are categorized into one of the following measurement 

categories: 

• amortized cost; 

• fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); 

• fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”). 

The characterization of a debt instrument’s cashflows is determined through a solely payment of 

principal and interest (“SPPI”) test. The SPPI test is conducted to identify whether the contractual 

cash flows of a debt instrument are in fact solely payments of principal and interest and are 

consistent with a basic lending arrangement. In the context of the SPPI test, “Principal” is defined 

as the fair value of the debt instrument at origination or initial recognition, which may change over 

the life of the instrument as a function of a number of variables including principal repayments, 

prepayments, or amortization of a premium/discount. In the context of the SPPI test “Interest” is 

defined as the consideration for the time value of money and credit risk. The rationale for the SPPI 

test is to ensure that debt instruments that include structural features that are incongruent with a 

basic lending arrangement, such as conversion options, are classified as, and measured at FVTPL. 

The Bank’s credit assets are categorized and measured as amortized cost. Debt instruments with 

contractual cash flows that meet the SPPI test and are managed on a hold to collect basis are 

measured at amortized cost. These financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value plus 

direct and incremental transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using 

the effective interest rate method, net of an allowance for credit losses. The effective interest rate 

is the rate that discounts estimated future cashflows through the expected life of the instrument to 

the gross carrying amount of the instrument. Amortized cost is calculated as a function of the 

effective interest rate, taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, transaction costs 

and fees. Amortization of these costs is included in interest income in the consolidated statement 

of income. 

The Bank’s securities are measured at fair value and categorized as FVOCI. 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

e)  Financial instruments – continued: 

Equity instruments  

Equity instruments are measured at fair value and categorized as FVTPL unless an irrevocable 

designation is made at initial recognition to categorize as FVOCI. Gains or losses from changes in 

the fair value of equity financial instruments designated at FVOCI, including any related foreign 

exchange gains or losses, are recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Amounts 

recognized in OCI are not to be subsequently reclassed to profit or loss, with the exception of 

dividends. Dividends received are recorded in non-interest income in the consolidated statement 

of income. Cumulative gains or losses upon derecognition of the equity instrument will be 

transferred within equity from accumulated OCI to retained earnings.  

The Bank has made an irrevocable election to designate its investment in Canada Stablecorp Inc. 

as FVOCI and it is recorded at fair value. 

Allowance for expected credit losses 

The Bank must maintain an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) that is adequate, in 

management’s opinion, to absorb all credit related losses in the Bank’s lending and treasury 

portfolios. The Bank’s allowance for expected credit losses is estimated using the ECL 

methodology and is comprised of expected credit losses recognized on all financial assets that are 

debt instruments, classified either as amortized cost or as FVOCI, and on all credit asset 

commitments and financial guarantees that are not measured at FVTPL.  

Expected credit losses represent unbiased and probability-weighted estimates that are modeled as 

a function of a range of possible outcomes as well as the time value of money, and reasonable and 

supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 

conditions, or more specifically forward-looking information (“FLI”) (see Forward-looking 

information below).  

The Bank’s ECL or impairment model estimates 12 months of expected credit losses for performing 

credit assets that have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk, (“SICR”) since initial 

recognition. Additionally, the ECL model estimates lifetime expected credit losses on performing 

credit assets that have experienced a SICR since initial recognition. Further, individual allowances 

are estimated for credit assets that are determined to be credit impaired. 

Credit assets or other financial instruments that have not experienced a SICR since initial 

recognition are designated as stage 1, while credit assets or other financial instruments that have 

experienced a SICR since initial recognition are designated as stage 2, and credit assets or other 

financial instruments that are determined to be credit impaired are designated as stage 3. 

Subsequent to the initial stage designation, the Bank’s credit assets or other financial instruments  
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

e)  Financial instruments – continued: 

may transfer between stages due to these credit assets or financial instruments experiencing a 

significant change in credit risk. 

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk  

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether or not there has been a SICR for credit assets 

since initial recognition by comparing, at the reporting date, the risk of default occurring over the 

remaining expected life against the risk of default at initial recognition. The determination of a SICR 

is a function of the credit asset’s internal risk rating assignment, internal watchlist status, credit 

asset review status and delinquency status all of which are updated as necessary in response to 

changes including, but not limited, to changes in macroeconomic and/or market conditions, 

changes in a obligor’s credit risk profile, and changes in the strength of the underlying security, 

including guarantor status, if a guarantor exists. 

Quantitative models may not always be able to capture all reasonable and supportable information 

that may indicate a SICR. As a result, qualitative factors may be considered to supplement such a 

gap. Examples include changes in adjudication criteria for a particular group of obligors or asset 

categories or changes in portfolio composition.  

With regards to delinquency and monitoring, there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk 

of a credit asset or other financial instrument has increased since initial recognition when 

contractual payments are more than 30 days delinquent. The Bank chose to use 60 days 

delinquency as an appropriate indicator of increased credit risk as it serves as a stable early 

warning indicator that the cashflows associated with the credit asset or other financial instrument 

under consideration may be uncertain and may not be realized by the Bank under the contractual 

repayment terms. 

Expected credit loss model - Estimation of expected credit losses 

Expected credit losses are an estimate of a credit asset’s expected cash shortfalls discounted at 

the effective interest rate, where a cash shortfall is the difference between the contractual cash 

flows that are due to the Bank and the cash flows that the Bank actually expects to receive. The 

ECL calculation is a function of the credit risk parameters; probability of default, loss given default, 

and exposure at default associated with each credit asset, sensitized to future market and 

macroeconomic conditions through the incorporation of FLI derived from multiple economic 

forecast scenarios, including baseline, upside, and downside scenarios. 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

e)  Financial instruments – continued: 

For clarity:  

• The probability of default (“PD”) for a credit asset or a financial instrument is an estimate of the 

likelihood of default of that instrument over a given time horizon; 

• The loss given default (“LGD”) for a credit asset or financial instrument is an estimate of the 

loss arising in the case where a default of that instrument occurs at a given time or over a given 

period; and, 

• The exposure at default (“EAD”) for a credit asset or financial instrument is an estimate of the 

Bank’s exposure derived from that instrument at a future default date. 

The Bank’s ECL model develops contractual cashflow profiles for credit assets as a function of a 

number of underlying assumptions and a broad range of input variables. The expected cashflow 

schedules are subsequently derived from the contractual cashflow schedules, adjusted for 

incremental default amounts, forgone interest, and recovery amounts. The finalized contractual and 

expected cashflow schedules are subsequently discounted at the effective interest rate to 

determine the expected cash shortfall or expected credit losses for each individual credit asset or 

financial instrument.  

Individual allowances are estimated for credit assets or other financial instruments that are 

determined to be credit impaired and that have been designated as stage 3. A credit asset or other 

financial instrument is classified as credit impaired when the Bank becomes aware that, before 

taking into consideration collateral or credit enhancements, all of, or a portion of the contractual 

cashflows associated with the credit asset or other financial instrument may be impacted and as a 

result may not be realized by the Bank under the repayment schedule set out in the contractual 

terms associated with the credit asset or other financial instrument. Credit assets or other financial 

instruments for which interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days are automatically 

recognized as stage 3, however in estimating expected credit losses for stage 3 credit assets or 

other financial instruments, management takes into consideration whether the credit asset or other 

financial instrument is fully secured or is in the process of collection and whether collection efforts 

are reasonably expected to result in repayment of the credit asset or other financial instrument. 

The ECL model requires the recognition of credit losses based on 12 months of expected losses 

for performing credit assets which is reflected in the Bank’s stage 1 grouping. The Bank recognizes 

lifetime expected losses on credit assets that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk 

since origination which is reflected in the Bank’s stage 2 grouping. Impaired credit assets require 

recognition of lifetime losses and are reflected in the Bank’s stage 3 grouping. 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

e)  Financial instruments – continued: 

Forward-looking information 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) requires consideration of past events, current market 

conditions and reasonable, supportable information about future economic conditions that is 

available without undue cost and effort in the estimation of the expected credit losses for credit 

assets or other financial instruments. More specifically, under IFRS 9 expected credit losses 

represent an unbiased, probability-weighted estimate of the present value of cash shortfalls (i.e., 

the weighted average of credit losses, with the respective risks of a default occurring in a given 

time period used as the weights). Additionally, IFRS 9 stipulates that future economic conditions 

are to be based on an unbiased, probability-weighted assessment of possible future outcomes. 

The estimation and application of forward-looking information is an attempt to capture the impact 

of future economic conditions and requires judgement. 

The Bank incorporates the impact of future economic conditions, or more specifically forward-

looking information into the estimation of expected credit losses at the credit risk parameter level. 

This is accomplished via the credit risk parameter models and proxy datasets that the Bank utilizes 

to develop PD and LGD term structure forecasts for its credit assets. The Bank has sourced credit 

risk modeling systems and forecast macroeconomic scenario data from Moody’s Analytics, a third-

party service provider, for the purpose of computing forward-looking risk parameters under multiple 

macroeconomic scenarios that consider both market-wide and idiosyncratic factors and influences. 

These systems are used in conjunction with the Bank’s internally developed ECL models. Given 

that the Bank has experienced very limited historical losses and, therefore, does not have available 

statistically significant loss data inventory for use in developing forward-looking expected credit loss 

trends, the use of unbiased, third-party forward-looking credit risk parameter modeling systems is 

particularly important for the Bank in the context of the estimation of expected credit losses.  

The Bank utilizes macroeconomic indicator data derived from multiple macroeconomic scenarios 

comprised of baseline, upside, and downside scenarios in order to mitigate volatility in the 

estimation of expected credit losses as well as to satisfy the IFRS 9 requirement that future 

economic conditions are to be based on an unbiased, probability-weighted assessment of possible 

future outcomes. More specifically, the macroeconomic indicators set out in the macroeconomic 

scenarios are used as inputs for the credit risk parameter models utilized by the Bank to sensitize 

the individual PD and LGD term structure forecasts to the respective macroeconomic trajectory set 

out in each of the scenarios. The weighted average of the individual, sensitized PD and LGD values 

that comprise each individual term structure forecast is subsequently computed to define unbiased 

PD and LGD term structure forecasts, which in turn are applied as inputs to the Bank’s internal ECL 

model in the estimation of expected credit losses for the Bank’s credit assets. Macroeconomic 

indicator data derived from the baseline, upside and downside scenarios referenced above is also 

utilized in the development of credit risk parameter proxy datasets and applied to the Bank’s 

consumer credit asset and small and medium enterprise (“SME”) credit asset portfolios. 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

e)  Financial instruments – continued: 

The macroeconomic indicator data utilized by the Bank for the purpose of sensitizing PD and LGD 

term structure data to forward economic conditions include, but are not limited to: real GDP, the 

national unemployment rate, long term interest rates, the consumer price index, the price of oil, and 

the S&P/TSX Index. These specific macroeconomic indicators were selected in an attempt to 

ensure that the spectrum of fundamental macroeconomic influences on the key drivers of the credit 

risk profile of the Bank’s balance sheet, including: corporate, consumer and real estate market 

dynamics; corporate, consumer and SME borrower performance; geography; as well as collateral 

value volatility, are all appropriately captured and incorporated into the Bank’s forward 

macroeconomic sensitivity analysis.  

Modified financial instruments  

If the terms of a financial instrument are modified or an existing financial instrument is replaced with 

a new one, an assessment is made to determine if the financial instrument should be derecognized.  

Where the modification does not result in derecognition, the date of origination continues to be 

used to determine SICR. Where modification results in derecognition, the modified financial 

instrument is considered to be a new instrument. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Estimates of fair value are developed using a variety of valuation methods and assumptions. The 

Bank follows a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used to measure fair value for its 

financial instruments. The fair value hierarchy is based on quoted prices in active markets (Level 

1), models using inputs other than quoted prices but with observable market data (Level 2), or 

models using inputs that are not based on observable market data (Level 3).   

Valuation models may require the use of inputs, transaction values derived from models and input 

assumptions sourced from pricing services. Valuation inputs are either observable or 

unobservable. The Bank makes use of external, readily observable market inputs when available 

and may include certain prices and rates for shorter-dated Canadian yield curves and banker’s 

acceptances. Unobservable inputs may include credit spreads, probability of default and recovery 

rates. 

f) Property and equipment: 

Property and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment.  

Amortization on property and equipment is primarily calculated using the straight-line method over 

the useful life of the equipment which typically ranges between 5 and 20 years.    
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

f) Property and equipment – continued: 

Property and equipment is subject to an impairment review if there are events or changes in 

circumstances which indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Amortization 

expense and impairment write-downs are included in premises and equipment expense in the 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. 

g) Goodwill and intangible assets: 

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business 

exceeds the value allocated to the tangible and intangible assets, less liabilities assumed, based 

on their fair values. Goodwill is not amortized but rather tested for impairment annually or more 

frequently if events or a change in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. 

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing if the carrying value of cash generating units 

(“CGUs”) which comprise the CGU segment, including goodwill, exceeds its recoverable amount 

determined as the greater of the estimated fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. 

Impairment losses recognized in respect of the CGUs are first allocated to the carrying value of 

goodwill and any excess is allocated to the carrying amount of assets in the CGUs. Any goodwill 

impairment is recorded in profit or loss in the reporting year in which the impairment is identified. 

Impairment losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 

Intangible assets acquired in a business acquisition are recorded at their fair value. In subsequent 

reporting periods, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and 

accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis over the expected 

useful life of the intangible asset. At each reporting date, the carrying values of intangible assets 

are reviewed for indicators of impairment. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of 

the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. For the purpose of 

impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest 

group of assets that generate cash flows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 

cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets or CGU’s. If the recoverable amount of an asset 

or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount the carrying amount is reduced to its 

recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. The recoverable amount 

of an asset or CGU is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing fair 

value less cost to sell the estimated future cash flows are discounted at a rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets. An impairment 

loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount. 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

g)  Goodwill and intangible assets – continued: 

When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased 

to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been recorded had no impairment losses been 

recognized for the asset in prior years.   

The Bank develops proprietary cybersecurity, banking and financial services technology. Any 

research or early-stage scoping activities are expensed as incurred in the period. The Bank 

recognizes internally generated intangible assets on the development of proprietary technology 

when it has determined that there is technical feasibility and resources available to complete a 

product, demonstrated an existence of an established market for the product as well as support to 

generate future revenues or derive future economic benefits from the product. As these intangible 

assets are not yet available for use, the Bank tested these assets for impairment annually by 

comparing the carrying amount with the recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is determined 

by fair value less cost to sell method. 

h) Income taxes: 

Current income taxes are calculated based on taxable income for the reporting period. Taxable 

income differs from accounting income because of differences in the inclusion and deductibility of 

certain components of income which are established by taxation authorities. Current income taxes 

are measured at the amount expected to be recovered or paid using statutory tax rates at the 

reporting period end. 

The Bank follows the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Deferred 

income tax assets and liabilities arise from temporary differences between financial statement 

carrying values and the respective tax base of those assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax 

assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to 

apply to taxable income in the years when temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 

settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements to the extent 

that it is probable that the Bank will have sufficient taxable income to enable the benefit of the 

deferred income tax asset to be realized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed 

for recoverability at the end of each reporting period. 

Current and deferred income taxes are recorded in income for the period, except to the extent that 

the tax arose from a transaction that is recorded either in Other Comprehensive Income or Equity, 

in which case the income tax on the transaction will also be recorded either in Other Comprehensive  
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

h)   Income taxes – continued: 

Income or Equity. Accordingly, current and deferred income taxes are presented in the 

Consolidated Financial Statements as a component of income, or as a component of Other 

Comprehensive Income. 

i) Employee benefits: 

i) Short-term benefits: 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are recognized as employees render their services 

and are measured on an undiscounted basis. 

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under a short-term cash bonus plan 

if the Bank has an obligation to make such payments as a result of past service provided by 

the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

ii) Share-based payment transactions: 

Equity-settled stock options 

Employee stock options are measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model which is used to 

estimate the fair value of the options at the date of grant. Inputs to the Black-Scholes model 

include the closing share price on the grant date, the exercise price, the expected option life, 

the expected dividend yield, the expected volatility and the risk-free interest rate. Once the 

expected option life is determined, it is used in formulating the estimates of expected volatility 

and the risk-free rate. Expected future volatility is estimated using a historical volatility look-

back period that is consistent with the expected life of the option.  

The fair value of options which vest immediately are recognized in full as of the grant date, 

whereas the fair value of options which vest over time are recognized over the vesting period 

using the graded method which incorporates management’s estimates of the options which are 

not expected to vest. The effect of a change in the estimated number of options expected to 

vest is a change in estimate and the cumulative effect of the change is recognized prospectively 

once the estimate is revised. The fair value of stock options granted is recorded in salaries and 

benefits expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income and in Contributed Surplus in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheets. When employee stock options are exercised, the consideration 

received and the estimated fair value previously recorded in Contributed Surplus is recorded 

as Share Capital. The Bank’s stock option plan is described in note 15. 
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3.   Material accounting policies – continued: 

j) Share capital: 

The Bank’s share capital consists of common shares and preferred shares. Costs directly incurred 

with raising new share capital are charged against equity. Other costs are expensed as incurred. 

k) Contributed surplus: 

Contributed surplus consists of the fair value of stock options granted since inception, less amounts 

reversed for exercised stock options. If granted options vest and then subsequently expire or are 

forfeited, no reversal of contributed surplus is recognized. 

l) Leases: 

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease 

arrangement based on whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

The Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease obligation at the lease commencement date. 

The right-of-use asset is initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease obligation 

adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 

costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore 

the underlying asset and/or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The 

assets are depreciated to the earlier of the end of useful life of the right-of-use asset or the lease 

term using the straight-line method as this methodology most closely reflects the expected pattern 

of consumption of the associated future economic benefits. The lease term includes periods 

covered by an option to extend if there is reasonable certainty that the Bank will exercise that 

option. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 

adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease obligation.   

The lease obligation is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. It is 

remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or 

rate, if there is a change in the Bank’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 

residual value guarantee, or if the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 

purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease obligation is remeasured in this way, a 

corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or the 

remeasured amount is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 

been reduced to zero. 

The Bank elects to apply the practical expedient to account for leases for which the lease term 

ends within 12 months of the date of initial application as short-term leases. 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

m) Foreign currency translation: 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the 

Bank and its subsidiaries at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange 

rate at the reporting date. Foreign currency differences are recognized in profit and loss. 

Investments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income denominated in a foreign 

currency are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate at the reporting date. All 

resulting changes are recognized in other comprehensive income.   

 

Foreign operations 

 

The assets and liabilities of Digital Boundary Group Inc. and VersaBank USA, both US operations 

of the Bank, have functional currencies other than the Canadian dollar, and are translated into 

Canadian dollars at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The income and expenses of these 

operations are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate at the date of transaction and 

the foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. All other US 

operations are recognized as having functional currency based on the Canadian dollar. 

n) Derivative instruments: 

Derivatives are measured at FVTPL except to the extent that they are designated in a hedging 

relationship.  

Derivatives are reported as other assets when they have a positive fair value and as other liabilities 

when they have a negative fair value. Derivatives may be embedded in other financial instruments.  

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are valued as separate derivatives when: the 

economic characteristics and risks associated are not clearly and closely related to those of the 

host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if it 

was a stand-alone, independent instrument; and the combined contract is not held for trading or 

designated at fair value through profit or loss. For financial statement disclosure purposes, 

embedded derivatives are combined with the host contract. 

 

Derivative contracts which do not qualify for hedge accounting are marked-to-market and the 

resulting net gains or losses are recognized in non-interest income in the Consolidated Statement 

of Income and Comprehensive Income. 

Hedge accounting 

The Bank has elected, as permitted, to apply the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39: 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). Derivative contracts which do not 

qualify for hedge accounting are marked-to-market and the  
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

n) Derivative instruments - continued: 

resulting net gains or losses are recognized in non-interest income in the Consolidated Statement 

of Income and Comprehensive Income. 

To meet the criteria for hedge accounting, the Bank documents all relationships between hedging 

instruments and hedged items, how hedge effectiveness is assessed, as well as its risk 

management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process 

includes linking hedging instruments to specific assets or liabilities on the Consolidated Balance 

Sheet or net investment in foreign subsidiaries. The Bank also formally assesses, both at the 

inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments that are used in 

hedging transactions are effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged 

items. 

There are three main types of hedges: (i) fair value hedges, (ii) cash flow hedges and (iii) net 

investment hedges.   

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Bank formally designates and documents the hedge 

relationship to which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and 

strategy for undertaking the hedge. 

The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature 

of the risk being hedged and how the Bank will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the 

hedge effectiveness requirements (including an analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and 

how the hedge effectiveness is assessed). In order to qualify for hedge accounting, a hedging 

relationship must be expected to be highly effective on a prospective basis and it needs to be 

demonstrated that it was also highly effective in the previous designated period (i.e., three month). 

A hedge is considered to be highly effective if the changes in fair value or cash flows attributable 

to the hedged risk are expected to be offset by the hedging instrument in a range of between 80% 

to 125%.  

Interest rate swap agreements are entered into for asset liability management purposes. The Bank 

has a fair value hedge outstanding. In a fair value hedge, the change in the fair value of the hedging 

instrument is recognized in non-interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Income and 

Comprehensive Income. The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to hedge risk 

is recorded as part of the carrying value of the hedged item (basis adjustment) and is also 

recognized in non-interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive 

Income. The Bank utilizes fair value hedges primarily to convert fixed rate financial assets to floating 

rate financial assets. The primary financial instruments designated in fair value hedging 

relationships are interest rate swap agreements entered into for hedging purposes. If the derivative 

expires or is sold, terminated, no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, or the designation 

is revoked, hedge accounting is discontinued. Any basis adjustment up to that point made to a 

hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortized to the Consolidated 

Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income as part of the recalculated effective interest rate  
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

n) Derivative instruments - continued: 

of the item over its remaining term. If the hedged item is derecognized, the unamortized fair value 

is recognized immediately in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. 

In fair value hedges, ineffectiveness arises to the extent that the change in fair value of the hedging 

items differs from the change in fair value of the hedge risk in the hedged item. Any hedge 

ineffectiveness is measured and recorded in non-interest income in the Consolidated Statements 

of Income and Comprehensive Income.  

The Bank also has net investment hedges outstanding. The bank applies hedge accounting under 

IAS 39 for foreign currency risk on its net investments in VersaBank USA operations. To manage 

this risk, the Bank has designated a specific foreign exchange forward contract as a hedge of the 

net investment in its foreign subsidiary. This hedging strategy is aimed at minimizing foreign 

exchange risk related to fluctuations between VersaBank’s functional currency, CAD, and the 

foreign currency of its net investment, USD. Change in fair value of the hedging instrument is 

recognized in other comprehensive income (OCI) to the extent that the hedge is effective. These 

gains and losses are accumulated in OCI until the net investment is disposed of, at which point 

they are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognized immediately in profit or loss. Hedge effectiveness 

is assessed by comparing changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument and 

the net investment. The Bank ensures compliance with IAS 39 hedge accounting criteria, 

confirming that all hedging relationships are documented at inception and that hedge effectiveness 

is regularly monitored and reviewed. 

 

Forming part of the net investment hedges is a hedge, which has been designated in addition to 

the foreign exchange forward contract designated to completely hedge the investment in 

VersaBank USA. This hedge is achieved by allocating a portion of the subordinated debt raised by 

the Bank in April, 2021. The allocated portion of the subordinated debt (liability) and the investment 

(asset) move in equal and opposite directions, with the liability serving as a hedge against rate 

fluctuations that could impact the valuation of the investment asset. 

o)  Future accounting standard pronouncements: 

The following accounting standards amendments issued by the IASB were effective and adopted 

for the Bank’s fiscal year beginning on November 1, 2024 (the Bank’s fiscal 2025 year end):  

i) Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - In January 

2020 and October 2022, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1: 

Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) to specify the requirements for classifying 

liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

o)  Future accounting standard pronouncements - continued: 

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement; 

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period; 

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral 

right; and, 

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument 

would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. 

In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising 

from a credit asset agreement is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer 

settlement is contingent on compliance with future covenants within twelve months. The 

amendments must be applied retrospectively.  

The amendments noted above did not have a material impact on the Bank's financial results. 

The following accounting standards amendments issued by the IASB will be effective for the Bank’s 

fiscal year beginning on November 1, 2026 (the Bank’s fiscal 2027 year end):  

In May 2024, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) introduced amendments to 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) and IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“IFRS 

7”) These amendments provide clarification on the classification of financial assets that include 

environmental, social, and governance (ESG)-linked features and establish additional disclosure 

requirements.   

We are in the process of evaluating the potential impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The following accounting standards issued by the IASB will be effective for the Bank’s fiscal year 

beginning on November 1, 2027 (the Bank’s fiscal 2028 year end):  

IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (“IFRS 18”) will replace IAS 1: 

Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”), which sets out presentation and base disclosure 

requirements for financial statements. The changes, which mostly affect the income statement, 

include the requirement to classify income and expenses  into three new categories – operating, 

investing and financing – and present subtotals for operating profit or loss and profit or loss before 

financing and income taxes. Further, operating expenses are presented directly on the face of the 

income statement – classified either by nature (e.g. employee compensation), by function (e.g. cost 

of sales) or using a mixed presentation. Expenses presented by function require more detailed 

disclosures about their nature. IFRS 18 also provides enhanced guidance for aggregation and 

disaggregation of information in the financial statements, introduces new disclosure requirements 

for management-defined performance measures and eliminates classification options for interest 

and dividends in the statement of cash flows. Management will undertake a comprehensive review 

of the potential impact to the Bank’s disclosure presentation 
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3. Material accounting policies – continued: 

o) Future accounting standard pronouncements – continued: 

under IFRS 18 and will update the readers as management establishes the new presentation and 

additional disclosures to conform with IFRS 18. 

4. Cash: 
 

Cash is comprised of deposits with regulated financial institutions, the Federal Reserve Bank and the 
Federal Home Loan Bank. As of October 31, 2025, the Bank has pledged $6.5 million of cash (October 
31, 2024 - $3.5 million) to fulfil the collateral requirements of derivative contracts and $9.1 million of 
cash (October 31, 2024 - $14.0 million) against off-balance sheet letters of credit. Please refer to Note 
23b.  

5. Securities: 

As at October 31, 2025, the Bank held securities totaling $80.9 million (October 31, 2024 - $299.3 

million), including accrued interest, comprised of US Treasury Bills with a carrying value of $74.3 million, 

Government of Canada Treasury Bills with a carrying value of $2.2 million and other securities with a 

carrying value of $4.4 million. 

6. Credit assets, net of allowance for credit losses: 

VersaBank organizes its Credit Asset  portfolios into the following two broad asset categories: 

Receivable Purchase Program (previously referred to as “Receivable Purchase Program/Point-of-Sale 

Loans & Leases” or “Point-of-Sale Loans & Leases”) and Multi-Family Residential Loans and Other 

(the amalgamation of what was previously referred to as “Commercial Real Estate Mortgages”, 

“Commercial Real Estate Loans”, and “Public Sector and Other Financing”). These categories have 

been established in VersaBank’s proprietary, internally developed asset management system and have 

been designed to catalogue individual lending assets as a function primarily of their key risk drivers, 

the nature of the underlying collateral, and the applicable market segment. 

The Receivable Purchase Program (“RPP”) category is composed of investments in the expected 

cash flow streams derived primarily from consumer and small business loans and leases that are 

originated and owned throughout their lifetime by VersaBank’s RPP partners as well as asset-backed 

securities that have similar underlying assets noted in the RPP portfolio. 

The Multi-Family Residential Loans and Other (“MROL”) category is composed of two major sub-

segments:  Multi-Family Residential Loans, which consists of CMHC-insured (zero-risk weighted) loans 

and uninsured loans to real estate developers to finance the construction phase of development of 

multi-family, student residence, condominium and retirement home properties, as well as term and 

bridge loans to real estate developers secured by completed aforementioned properties and units.  It 

also includes the public sector and infrastructure loans and leases. The majority of these loans are 

business-to-business loans with the underlying credit risk exposure being primarily residential in nature, 

given that the vast majority of the loans are related to properties that are designated primarily for  
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6. Credit assets – continued: 

residential use. The portfolio benefits from diversity in its underlying security in the form of a broad 

range of such collateral properties. 

a)  Portfolio analysis: 

 

The following table provides a summary of credit asset amounts, ECL allowance amounts, and 

expected loss (“EL”) rates by lending asset category: 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Receivable purchase program 4,043,007$ 3,307,328$ 

Multi-family residential loans and other 1,007,232   910,314      

5,050,239   4,217,642   

Allowance for credit losses (7,279)        (3,303)        

Accrued interest 23,418        21,777        

Total credit assets, net of allowance for credit losses 5,066,378$ 4,236,116$ 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Receivable purchase program 4,017,931$   17,516$        7,560$          4,043,007$   

ECL allowance 3,187           72               2,172           5,431           

EL % 0.08% 0.41% 28.73% 0.13%

Multi-family residential loans and other 854,692$      113,227$      39,313$        1,007,232$   

ECL allowance 1,493           354              1                 1,848           

EL % 0.17% 0.31% 0.00% 0.18%

Total credit assets 4,872,623$   130,743$      46,873$        5,050,239$   

Total ECL allowance 4,679           426              2,174           7,279           

Total EL % 0.10% 0.33% 4.64% 0.14%

(thousands of Canadian dollars) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Receivable purchase program 3,294,675$   12,653$        -$             3,307,328$   

ECL allowance 783              -              -              783              

EL % 0.02% 0.00% 0.00% 0.02%

Multi-family residential loans and other 737,125$      173,121$      68$              910,314$      

ECL allowance 2,213           306              1                 2,520           

EL % 0.30% 0.18% 1.47% 0.28%

Total credit assets 4,031,800$   185,774$      68$              4,217,642$   

Total ECL allowance 2,996           306              1                 3,303           

Total EL % 0.07% 0.16% 1.47% 0.08%

As at October 31, 2025

As at October 31, 2024



VERSABANK 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended October 31, 2025 and 2024 
 

 

 24 

6. Credit assets – continued: 

The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of its financial assets. The Bank holds 

security against the majority of its credit assets in the form of mortgage interests over property, other 

registered securities over assets, guarantees and/or cash reserves (holdbacks) related to receivables 

purchased included in the RPP Financing portfolio (note 13). 

Allowance for credit losses 

The Bank maintains an allowance for expected credit losses that is adequate, in management’s opinion, 

to absorb all credit related losses in the Bank’s credit asset and treasury portfolios. Under IFRS 9: 

Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) the Bank’s allowance for expected credit losses is estimated using the 

expected credit loss methodology and is comprised of expected credit losses recognized on both 

performing credit assets, and non-performing, or impaired credit assets even if no actual loss event has 

occurred.  

The expected credit loss methodology requires the recognition of credit losses based on 12 months of 

expected losses for performing credit assets which is reflected in the Bank’s stage 1 grouping. The 

Bank recognizes lifetime expected losses on credit assets that have experienced a significant increase 

in credit risk since origination which is reflected in the Bank’s stage 2 grouping. Impaired credit assets 

require recognition of lifetime losses and are reflected in stage 3 grouping. 

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there has been a SICR for credit assets since initial 

recognition by comparing, at the reporting date, the risk of default occurring over the remaining 

expected life against the risk of default at initial recognition.  

SICR is a function of the credit asset’s internal risk rating assignment, internal watchlist status, credit 

asset review status and delinquency status which are updated as necessary in response to changes 

including, but not limited to, changes in macroeconomic and/or market conditions, changes in a 

borrower’s credit risk profile, and changes in the strength of the underlying security, including guarantor 

status, if a guarantor exists. Notwithstanding the above, the assessment of a significant increase in 

credit risk will require experienced credit judgement. 

Quantitative models may not always be able to capture all reasonable and supportable information that 

may indicate a SICR. As a result, qualitative factors may be considered to supplement such a gap. 

Examples include changes in adjudication criteria for a particular group of borrowers or asset categories 

or changes in portfolio composition as well as changes in Canadian and US macroeconomic trends 

attributable to changes in monetary policy, inflation, employment rates, consumer behaviour and geo-

political risks. 
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6. Credit assets – continued: 

Expected credit loss model - Estimation of expected credit losses 

Expected credit losses are an estimate of a credit asset’s expected cash shortfalls discounted at the 

effective interest rate, where a cash shortfall is the difference between the contractual cash flows that 

are due to the Bank and the cash flows that the Bank actually expects to receive.   

Forward-looking information 

The Bank incorporates the impact of future economic conditions, or more specifically forward-looking 

information into the estimation of expected credit losses at the credit risk parameter level. This is 

accomplished via the credit risk parameter models and proxy datasets that the Bank utilizes to develop 

PD and LGD term structure forecasts for its credit assets. The Bank has sourced credit risk modeling 

systems and forecast macroeconomic scenario data from Moody’s Analytics, a third-party service 

provider for the purpose of computing forward-looking credit risk parameters under multiple 

macroeconomic scenarios that consider both market-wide and idiosyncratic factors and influences. 

These systems are used in conjunction with the Bank’s internally developed ECL models. Given that 

the Bank has experienced very limited historical losses and, therefore, does not have available 

statistically significant loss data inventory for use in developing internal, forward-looking expected credit 

loss trends, the use of unbiased, third-party forward-looking credit risk parameter modeling systems is 

particularly important for the Bank in the context of the estimation of expected credit losses.  

The Bank utilizes macroeconomic indicator data derived from multiple macroeconomic scenarios in 

order to mitigate volatility in the estimation of expected credit losses, as well as to satisfy the IFRS 9 

requirement that future economic conditions are to be based on an unbiased, probability-weighted 

assessment of possible future outcomes. More specifically, the macroeconomic indicators set out in 

the macroeconomic scenarios are used as inputs for the credit risk parameter models utilized by the 

Bank to sensitize the individual PD and LGD term structure forecasts to the respective macroeconomic 

trajectory set out in each of the scenarios (see Expected Credit Loss Sensitivity below). Currently the 

Bank utilizes upside, downside and baseline forecast macroeconomic scenarios, and assigns discrete 

weights to each for use in the estimation of its reported ECL. The Bank has also applied expert credit 

judgement, where appropriate, to reflect, amongst other items, uncertainty in the Canadian and US 

macroeconomic environments.   

The macroeconomic indicator data utilized by the Bank for the purpose of sensitizing PD and LGD term 

structure data to forward economic conditions include, but are not limited to: real GDP, the national 

unemployment rate, long term interest rates, the consumer price index, the S&P/TSX Index and the 

price of oil. These specific macroeconomic indicators were selected in an attempt to ensure that the 

spectrum of fundamental macroeconomic influences on the key drivers of the credit risk profile of the 

Bank’s balance sheet, including: corporate, consumer and real estate market dynamics; corporate, 

consumer and SME borrower performance; geography; as well as collateral value volatility, are 

appropriately captured and incorporated into the Bank’s forward macroeconomic sensitivity analysis.  
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6. Credit assets – continued: 

The key assumptions driving the outlook includes global tariff policies, which, while stabilizing, remain 

uncertain in their size, scope, and timing. Tariffs continue to pose challenges to both the Canadian and 

U.S. economies, with elevated measures increasing cross-border costs and supply chain pressures. 

Export demand and investment are expected to remain soft, which may weigh on hiring and 

consumption growth amid ongoing trade uncertainty and geopolitical tensions. Although a recession is 

not anticipated, overall GDP growth is expected to remain subdued through this year and in 2026. As 

economic momentum softens, the Bank of Canada and the U.S. Federal Reserve are expected to 

maintain accommodative policies, with some rate reductions likely, though the extent of easing may be 

limited by persistent inflationary pressures. Labour market conditions are expected to weaken 

modestly, with hiring slowing in response to softer growth. Recent changes to Canadian immigration 

policy are anticipated to influence labour force growth, which may further influence employment trends. 

While tariffs may add to cost pressures, overall inflation is expected to moderate gradually, supported 

by easing commodity prices and weaker global demand. 

Management developed ECL estimates using credit risk parameter term structure forecasts sensitized 

to individual baseline, upside and downside forecast macroeconomic scenarios, each weighted at 

100%, and subsequently computed the variance of each to the Bank’s reported ECL as at October 31, 

2025 in order to assess the alignment of the Bank’s reported ECL with the Bank’s credit risk profile, 

and further, to assess the scope, depth and ultimate effectiveness of the credit risk mitigation strategies 

that the Bank has applied to its lending portfolios (see Expected Credit Loss Sensitivity below). 

Expected credit loss sensitivity: 

The following table presents the sensitivity of the Bank’s estimated ECL to a range of individual 

macroeconomic scenarios, that in isolation may not reflect the Bank’s actual expected ECL exposure, 

as well as the variance of each to the Bank’s reported ECL as at October 31, 2025: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Reported 100% 100% 100%

 ECL

Upside Baseline Downside

Allowance for expected credit losses 7,279$        6,742$       7,198$       7,932$       

Provision (recovery) from reported ECL (537)           (80)             653            

Variance from reported ECL (%) (7%) (1%) 9%
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6. Credit assets – continued: 

b)   Allowance for credit losses: 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Bank’s ECL allowance by credit asset category for 

the year ended October 31, 2025:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Receivable purchase program

Balance at beginning of period 783$               -$               -$               783$               

Transfer in (out) to Stage 1 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 2 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 3 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 2,403              72                  2,172              4,648              

Credit asset originations -                 -                 -                 -                 

Derecognitions and maturities -                 -                 -                 -                 

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses 2,403              72                  2,172              4,648              

Write-offs -                 -                 -                 -                 

Recoveries -                 -                 -                 -                 

Balance at end of period 3,187$            72$                2,172$            5,431$            

Multi-family residential loans and other

Balance at beginning of period 2,213$            306$               1$                  2,520$            

Transfer in (out) to Stage 1 (760)               760                -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 2 508                (508)               -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 3 (2)                   (170)               172                -                 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (526)               545                (170)               (152)               

Credit asset originations 613                137                -                 751                

Derecognitions and maturities (129)               (705)               -                 (834)               

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses (295)               59                  1                    (235)               

Write-offs (442)               -                 -                 (442)               

Recoveries -                 -                 -                 -                 

FX Impact 18                  (12)                 (0)                   6                    

Balance at end of period 1,493$            354$               2$                  1,848$            

Total balance at end of period 4,679$            426$               2,174$            7,279$            
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6.   Credit assets – continued: 

b) Allowance for credit losses (continued): 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the Bank’s ECL allowance by credit asset category 

for the year ended October 31, 2024: 

 

 

 

c) Maturities and yields: 

 

 

Average effective yields are based on book values and contractual interest rates, adjusted for the 

amortization of any deferred income and expenses. 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Receivable purchase program

Balance at beginning of period 100$              -$               -$               100$              

Transfer in (out) to Stage 1 56                  (56)                 -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 2 (124)               124                -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 3 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 751                (68)                 -                 683                

Credit asset originations -                 -                 -                 -                 

Derecognitions and maturities -                 -                 -                 -                 

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses 683                -                 -                 683                

Write-offs -                 -                 -                 -                 

Recoveries -                 -                 -                 -                 

Balance at end of period 783$              -$               -$               783$              

Multi-family residential loans and other

Balance at beginning of period 1,845$           568$              -$               2,413$           

Transfer in (out) to Stage 1 484                (484)               -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 2 (534)               534                -                 -                 

Transfer in (out) to Stage 3 (1)                  -                 1                   -                 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (556)               (235)               -                 (791)               

Credit asset originations 146                12                  -                 158                

Derecognitions and maturities (229)               (89)                 -                 (318)               

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses (690)               (262)               1                   (951)               

Write-offs (4)                  -                 -                 (4)                  

Recoveries -                 -                 -                 -                 

Acquired Credit Assets 1,032             -                 -                 -                 

FX Impact 30                  -                 -                 1,032             

Balance at end of period 2,213$           306$              1$                  2,520$           

Total balance at end of period 2,996$           306$              -$               3,303$           

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Within 3 months to 1 year to 2 years to Over 2025 2024

Floating 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years  Total Total

Total credit assets 819,260$     86,239$       336,196$     417,528$     2,797,605$ 593,411$     5,050,239$ 4,217,642$ 

Average

   effective yield 6.42% 5.86% 5.29% 5.74% 5.85% 6.38% 5.96% 6.56%
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6.   Credit assets – continued: 

d) Impaired credit assets: 

At October 31, 2025, the Bank held impaired credit assets amounting to $39.2 million (October 31, 

2024 - $nil). Of this balance, $31.5 million was fully repaid on December 1, 2025. 

7. Property and equipment: 

 

 

None of the Bank’s property and equipment is subject to title restrictions, nor is any pledged as security 

for any of the Bank’s liabilities. Total amortization expense recorded for property and equipment for the 

year ended October 31, 2025, totaled $1.6 million (2024 - $1.5 million). 

8. Goodwill: 

Goodwill of $5.8 million relates to the Bank’s acquisition of Digital Boundary Group and $6.5 million 

relates to the Bank’s acquisition of Stearns Bank Holdingford N.A. (note 26).  

For the purpose of conducting an annual test for impairment, the Bank’s CGUs relates to the operations 

of these entities. The Bank considered the fair value less carrying value calculation in assessing 

impairment. The key assumptions underlying the impairment test of goodwill related to Digital Boundary 

Group included: five years of projected cash flow, a discount rate of 11.6% (2024 - 12.1%), an average 

yearly earnings growth rate of 14% (2024 - 13%) and a terminal growth rate of 2.0% (2024 - 2.0%).  

The key assumptions underlying the impairment test of goodwill related to VersaBank USA included: 

ten years of projected cash flow, a discount rate of 10.0% (2024 - 10.0%), an average yearly earnings 

growth rate of 19% (2024 - 17%) and a terminal growth rate of 1.0% (2024 - 1.0%). 

The Bank did not recognize an impairment charge on the goodwill related to these entities as the 

recoverable amount of the CGUs exceeded the carrying value of the goodwill associated with these 

entities. Sensitivity analysis performed by management suggested that if the average annual growth 

rate were to decrease by approximately 8% for Digital Boundary Group over each year of the five-year 

planning horizon the carrying amount would be approximately equal to the recoverable amount of the 

CGU. For VersaBank USA, sensitivity analysis performed by management suggested that if the  

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Cost 36,636$      36,721$      

Accumulated amortization (12,700)      (12,836)      

23,936$      23,885$      
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8. Goodwill – continued: 

average annual growth rate were to decrease by 14% over each year of the ten-year planning horizon 

the carrying amount would be approximately equal to the recoverable amount of the CGU. 

9. Intangible assets: 

As at October 31, 2025, total intangible assets were $10.6 million (October 31, 2024 - $12.1 million) 

related to the Bank’s acquisition of Digital Boundary Group, VersaBank USA and for internally 

developed software.  

The intangible assets related to the Bank’s acquisition of Digital Boundary Group were $3.9 million 

(October 31, 2024 - $3.9 million) and at October 31, 2025, had accumulated amortization of $1.9 million 

(October 31, 2024 - $1.5 million) and are being amortized over ten years. The amortization expense 

for these intangible assets totaled $394,000 (October 31, 2024 - $394,000).  

The intangible assets related to the Bank’s acquisition of VersaBank USA were $2.6 million (October 

31, 2024 - $2.6 million) and at October 31, 2025, had accumulated amortization of $269,000 (October 

31, 2024 - $nil) and are being amortized over 10 years. The amortization expense for these intangible 

assets totaled $269,000 (October 31, 2024 - $nil).   

The intangible assets related to internally developed software were $7.1 million (October 31, 2024 - 

$7.1 million) and at October 31, 2025, had accumulated amortization of $686,000 (October 31, 2024 - 

$nil) and are being amortized over 10 years. The amortization expense for these intangible assets 

totaled $686,000 (October 31, 2024 - $nil). 

10. Other assets: 

 

a) The Bank, internally through its DRTC segment, has developed proprietary cybersecurity, banking 

and financial technology products. Costs associated with the development of these products and 

services have been capitalized in accordance with IAS 38: Intangible Assets (“IAS 38”). As at 

October 31, 2025, capitalized costs were $3.1 million (October 31, 2024 - $2.5 million). Amortization 

of these costs has not yet commenced as the products and services associated with same remain  

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Accounts receivable 7,371$       10,718$      

Prepaid expenses and other (note 10a) 17,880       14,399       

Right-of-use assets (note 10c) 2,424         2,734         

Deferred income tax asset (note 16) 4,039         750            

Derivative instruments (note 18) -                20              

Investment (note 10d) 953            953            

32,667$      29,574$      
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10. Other assets – continued: 

in the development stage. The Bank conducted an annual test for impairment on the assets that 

are not yet ready for use. The Bank considered the fair value less carrying value calculation in 

assessing impairment. The key assumptions underlying the impairment test included: ten years of 

projected cash flow, a discount rate of 13.1%, an average yearly earnings growth rate of 32% and 

a terminal growth rate of 1.0%. The Bank did not recognize an impairment charge on these  

b) intangible assets as the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying value of same. Completed 

projects related to the DRTC segment were classified under intangible assets and totaled $7.1 

million as of October 31, 2025 (October 31, 2024 - $7.1 million). 

c) The right-of-use assets relate to the Bank’s office facility leases. Capitalized leases of $2.4 million 

at October 31, 2025, is stated net of accumulated amortization of $3.9 million.  

For the year ended October 31, 2025, the amortization expense for the right-of-use assets totaled 

$751,000 (2024 - $695,000).  

d) The Bank has an 7.8% investment in Canada Stablecorp Inc. (“Stablecorp”). The Bank has made 

an irrevocable election to designate this investment at fair value through other comprehensive 

income (“FVOCI”) at initial recognition and any future changes in the fair value of the investment 

will be recognized in other comprehensive income. Amounts recorded in other comprehensive 

income will not be reclassified to profit and loss at a later date. 

11. Deposits: 

 

Average effective interest rates are based on book values and contractual interest rates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Maturity period Demand/ Within 3 months to 1 year to 2 years to Over Accrued 2025 2024

Floating 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Interest  Total  Total

Total deposits 851,362$    633,824$    1,733,111$  785,369$    787,895$    -$              69,302$      4,860,863$  4,144,673$  

Average effective

   interest rate 1.39% 3.70% 3.61% 3.88% 4.15% 3.31% 4.16%
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12. Subordinated notes payable: 

 

On April 30, 2024, the Bank redeemed its $5.0 million, unsecured, non-viability contingent capital 

compliant, subordinate note payable using the Bank’s general funds. 

13. Other liabilities: 

 

Lease obligations reflect the Bank’s liabilities for right-of-use assets which capture the Bank’s multiple 

leased premises. The portion of the Bank’s leasing obligations that were not captured as part of the 

right-of-use assets continue to be expensed in premises and equipment. The Bank had total cash 

outflows for these leases of $1.3 million in 2025. 

The current leasing arrangements associated with these lease obligations expire between October 

2025 and December 2045 with options to renew the leases after the initial lease period. Lease 

payments are adjusted every three to five years to reflect market rates.   

The future lease payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are $611,000 within one year, 

$2.6 million within five years and $ 54,000 thereafter. 

The Bank has entered into a lease agreement that has not yet commenced as of October 31, 2025. 

The non-cancelleable lease, which commenced on November 1, 2025, has a term of 7 years with future  

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Issued April 2021, unsecured, non-viability contingent capital compliant,

subordinated notes payable, principal amount of US $75.0 

fixed effective interest rate of 5.38%, maturing May 2031. The 

fixed rate applies only until May 1, 2026, at which point the 

obligation switches to floating rate and the notes are redeemable 

by the Bank, subject to regulatory approval. 103,516$    102,503$    

103,516$    102,503$    

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Accounts payable and other 12,518$      10,752$      

Current income tax liability 126            893            

Deferred income tax liability (note 16) 33              141            

Derivative instruments (note 18) 416            -                

Lease obligations 2,668         3,035         

Cash collateral and amounts held in escrow (note 6) 4,996         6,076         

Cash reserves on loan and lease receivables (note 6) 290,666      171,208      

311,423$    192,105$    
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13. Other liabilities – continued:  

lease payments for the non-cancellable lease contract of $168,000 within one year, $920,000 within 

five years and $425,000 thereafter. These amounts are not included in the lease liabilities presented 

above because the leases have not commenced and therefore no lease liability has been recognized 

at the reporting date. 

14. Share capital: 

a) Authorized: 

The Bank is authorized to issue an unlimited number of voting common shares with no par value.  

The Bank is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Series 1 preferred shares with a par value 

of $10.00.  

b) Issued and outstanding: 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Shares Amount Shares Amount

Common shares:

Balance, beginning of the year 26,002,577 215,610$     25,964,424  214,824$     

Issued during the year 6,509,434    114,772       -                    -                    

Options exercised during the year 6,775           108               38,153         786               

Purchased and cancelled during the year (573,251)     (6,137)          

Share issue cost adjustment -                   1,557           -                    -                    

Outstanding,

 end of year 31,945,535 325,910$     26,002,577  215,610$     

Series 1 preferred shares:

Balance, beginning of the year -               -$                  1,461,460    13,647$       

Redemption of preferred shares -                   -                    (1,461,460)   (13,647)        

Outstanding,

   end of year -               -$                  -               -$                  

Total share capital 325,910$     215,610$     

2025 2024
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14. Share Capital – continued: 

Common shares 

On December 18, 2024, the Bank completed a treasury offering of 5,660,378 common shares at a 

price of USD $13.25 per share, the equivalent of CAD $18.95 per share, for gross proceeds of USD 

$75.0 million. On December 24, 2024, the underwriters of the aforementioned offering exercised 

their full over-allotment option to purchase an additional 849,056 shares (15% of the 5,660,378 

common shares issued via the base offering referenced above) at a price of USD $13.25 per share, 

or CAD $19.07 per share, for additional gross proceeds of USD $11.2 million.  Total net cash 

proceeds from the common share offering were CAD $116.0 million.  The Bank’s share capital 

increased by CAD $116.3 million corresponding to the Common Share Offering and less tax 

effected issue costs in the amount of CAD $6.2 million. 

On April 28, 2025, the Bank received approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") to proceed 

with a Normal Course Issuer Bid ("NCIB") for its common shares. Pursuant to the NCIB, VersaBank 

may purchase for cancellation up to 2,000,000 of its common shares representing approximately 

8.99% of its public float. As of April 21, 2025, the public float comprised 22,237,283 common shares 

and there were 32,518,786 issued and outstanding Common Shares in total. The average daily 

trading volume ("ADTV") of VersaBank's Common Shares on the TSX for the six months of October 

1, 2024 – March 31, 2025 (the "Preceding Six Month Period") was 37,761 shares. Daily purchases 

under the NCIB will be limited to 25% of the ADTV, which is 9,440 common shares, other than 

block purchase exceptions. During the Preceding Six-Month Period, 20,321,293 VersaBank 

common shares were traded on all exchanges. Of that total, 4,720,219 shares were traded on the 

TSX, and the remaining 15,601,074 shares were traded on other exchanges including the Nasdaq. 

The ability to make purchases commenced on April 30, 2025, and will terminate on April 29, 2026, 

or such an earlier date as VersaBank may complete its purchases pursuant to the NCIB. The 

purchases will be made by VersaBank through the facilities of the TSX and the Nasdaq and in 

accordance with the rules of the TSX or the Nasdaq, as applicable, and the prices that VersaBank 

will pay for any Common Shares will be the market price of such shares at the time of acquisition. 

VersaBank will make no purchases of Common Shares other than open market purchases. All 

shares purchased under the NCIB will be cancelled. 

For the year ended October 31, 2025, the Bank purchased and cancelled 573,251 Common Shares 

for $9.2 million, reducing the Bank’s Common Share value by $6.1 million, contributed surplus $0.1 

million and retained earnings by $3.0 million. In the same period, the Bank issued 6,775 Common 

Shares for proceeds of $108,000 related to stock options there were exercised in the period. 

For the year ended October 31, 2024, the Bank issued 38,153 Common Shares for $607,000 

related to stock options that were exercised in the period.  

For the year ended October 31, 2025, the Bank declared and paid dividends of $3.2 million or $0.10 

per common share (2024 - $2.6 million or $0.10 per common share). 
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14. Share Capital – continued: 

Series 1 Preferred shares 

On October 31, 2024, the Bank redeemed all of its 1,461,460 outstanding Non-Cumulative Series 1 

preferred shares (NVCC) using cash on hand. The amount paid on redemption for each share was 

$10.00, and in aggregate $14.6 million. Transaction costs, incurred at issuance in the amount of 

$965,000, were applied against retained earnings. 

15. Stock-based compensation: 

Equity-settled stock options 

The Bank has a stock option plan for its employees and officers. Options are granted at an exercise 

price set at the closing market price of the Bank’s common shares on the day preceding the date on 

which the option is granted and are exercisable within five years of issue. Options are usually granted 

with graded vesting terms. One third vests on the first anniversary of the grant date, one third vests on 

the second anniversary of the grant date, and one third vests on the third anniversary of the grant date.  

 

For the year ended October 31, 2025, the Bank recognized stock-based compensation expense of 

$81,000 (2024 - $348,000) related to the estimated fair value of options granted. There were 10,000 

stock options granted in the current year. The fair value of the 10,000 stock options granted over the 

course of the current fiscal year was estimated at the grant dates using the Black-Scholes valuation 

model and the following input assumptions: risk-free rate of 2.94%, expected option life of 3.5 years, 

expected volatility of 29.6% and expected annual dividends of 0.67%.The weighted average of the fair 

value of the stock options granted in the year was estimated at $3.33 per share. During the current 

year, the Bank issued 6,775 (2024 - 38,153) Common Shares for proceeds of $108,000 (2024 - 

$607,000) related to exercised stock options in the current year. 

 

 

Weighted Weighted

Number of average Number of average 

options exercise price options exercise price

Outstanding, beginning of period 819,125      15.90$           874,393      15.90$         

Granted 10,000       15.90             -                -                  

Exercised (6,775)        15.90             (38,153)      15.90           

Forfeited/cancelled (42,616)      15.90             (17,115)      15.90           

Expired -                -                    -                -                  

Outstanding, end of period 779,734      15.90$           819,125      15.90$         

2025 2024
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16. Income taxes: 

 

Income taxes, including both the current and deferred portions, vary from the amounts that would be 

computed by applying the aggregated statutory federal tax rates and provincial tax rates of 27% (2024 

- 27%) to income before income taxes. Income taxes have been computed as follows: 

  

 

Income taxes is comprised of the following: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Income before income taxes 41,493$      54,793$      

Income tax rate 27% 27%

Expected income tax provision 11,203       14,794       

Tax rate differential on international operations (50)             (426)           

Change in unrecognized deferred income taxes 492            1,671         

Effect of changes in tax rates (403)           (89)             

Other permanent differences 886            (174)           

Adjustments for prior years 907            (731)           

Income taxes 13,035$      15,045$      

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Current income taxes 13,263$       12,328$       

Deferred income taxes (228)             2,717           

Income taxes 13,035$       15,045$       
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16. Income taxes – continued: 

 

The components of the recognized deferred income tax assets and liabilities and related changes, as 

recognized in net income, equity or accumulated comprehensive income, are as follows: 

 

 

 

The net deferred taxes are comprised of: 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Recognized Recognized

November 1, in net directly to October 31,

2024 income equity 2025

Allowance for credit losses 631$            1,208$           -$                 1,839$         

Loss carry forwards 1,559           288                 705              2,552           

Share issue and financing costs 17                 (896)               2,248           1,369           

Deferred loan fees 699              (199)               -                    500              

Property and equipment and right-of-use assets 558              49                   -                    607              

Other 45                 291                 -                    336              

Total deferred tax assets 3,509           741                 2,953           7,203           

Intangibles assets 503              (127)               -                    376              

Deposit commissions 1,895           186                 -                    2,081           

Property and equipment and right-of-use assets 48                 277                 -                    325              

Other 454              (39)                 -                    415              

Total deferred tax liabilities 2,900           297                 -                    3,197           

Net deferred income tax assets 609$            444$              2,953$         4,006$         

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Recognized Recognized

November 1, in net directly to October 31,

2023 income equity 2024

Allowance for credit losses 666$          (35)$             -$              631$          

Loss carry forwards 1,625         (66)              -                1,559         

Share issue and financing costs 446            (429)             -                17              

Deferred loan fees 818            (119)             -                699            

Property and equipment and right-of-use assets 580            (22)              -                558            

Other 1,790         (1,745)          -                45              

Total deferred tax assets 5,925         (2,416)          3,509         

Intangibles assets 598            (95)              -                503            

Deposit commissions 1,823         72               -                1,895         

Property and equipment and right-of-use assets 133            (85)              -                48              

Other 44              410              -                454            

Total deferred tax liabilities 2,598         302              -                2,900         

Net deferred income tax assets 3,327$       (2,718)$        -$              609$          

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Deferred tax assets 4,039$           750$            

Deferred tax liabilities (33)                 (141)             

Net deferred income tax assets 4,006$           609$            
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16. Income taxes – continued:  

A deferred tax asset in the amount of $0.9 million (2024 - $0.3 million) has been recognized in the 

financial statements, which utilization is dependent on future taxable earnings in the tax jurisdiction to 

which it relates. The Bank has forecasted earnings in this tax jurisdiction which will allow for the use of 

these deferred tax assets.  

The Bank was subject to Part VI.1 tax which is a 40% tax on dividends paid on taxable preferred shares 

under the Income Tax Act (Canada) prior to the redemption of these shares on October 31, 2024. The 

Part VI.1 tax associated with these dividends paid was $196,000 in fiscal 2024 and the related tax 

recovery was recorded through equity. 

At October 31, 2025, the Bank had US income tax losses which can be carried forward to reduce 

taxable income in future years in the amount of $1.9 million (2024 - $1.0 million). These loss carry 

forwards of the Bank have no expiry date. The deferred tax asset of $573,000 (2024 - $293,000) relating 

to the US income tax losses has been recognized in these statements as it is probable the Bank will 

have earnings which will allow for the use of these losses. 

In addition, the Bank has approximately $14.8 million (2024 - $9.5 million) of capital loss carry forwards 

which may be applied against future capital gains and for which the deferred tax asset of $2.0 million 

(2024 - $1.3 million) has been recognized. 

A deferred tax liability on taxable temporary differences of approximately $12.6 million (2024 - $6.6 

million) relating to the Bank’s investment in its subsidiaries was not recognized as the Bank is able to 

control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary 

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

17. Per share amounts: 

Basic and diluted income per common share 

 

The Series 1 NVCC preferred shares are contingently issuable shares and do not have a dilutive 

impact. The outstanding employee stock options are dilutive but the amounts are de minimis and 

therefore have no impact on the Bank’s income per share amounts. 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

2025 2024

Net income 28,458$      39,748$      

Preferred share dividends paid -                (988)           

Net income available to common shareholders 28,458       38,760       

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 31,506,701 25,965,724 

Basic and diluted income per common share: 0.90$         1.49$         
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18. Derivative instruments: 

Designated Hedges 

At October 31, 2025, the Bank had an outstanding contract established for asset liability management 

purposes to swap between fixed and floating interest rates with an amortizing notional amount currently 

totaling $20.2 million (October 31, 2024 - $22.0 million), of which $20.2 million (October 31, 2024 - 

$22.0 million) qualified for hedge accounting. The Bank enters into interest rate swap contracts for its 

own account exclusively and does not act as an intermediary in this market. The maturity date of the 

amortizing interest rate swap is March 1, 2034. At October 31, 2025, fair value of $340,000 (October 

31, 2024 - $19,000) relating to this contract was included in other liabilities and the offsetting amount 

included in the carrying values of the assets to which they relate. Approved counterparties are limited 

to major Canadian chartered banks. The carrying amount of the hedged item recognized in the credit 

assets was $20.9 million (October 31, 2024 - $22.4 million). The accumulated amount of fair value 

hedge adjustments on the hedged item included in the carrying amount of the hedged item is $1.9 

million (October 31, 2024 - $1.1 million). 

As of October 31, 2025, the Bank utilized a foreign exchange forward contract to mitigate foreign 

exchange risk on its net investments in VersaBank USA. This hedging strategy is aimed at minimizing 

foreign exchange risk related to fluctuations between the VersaBank’s functional currency, CAD, and 

the foreign currency of its net investment, USD. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives, 

attributable to the effective portion of the hedge, are recognized in other comprehensive income, while 

the ineffective portion, if any, is recorded in profit or loss. As of October 31, 2025, the outstanding 

foreign exchange forward contract had a notional value of USD $138.6 million (October 31, 2024 – 

USD $66.0 million) and a fair value of $61,400 (liability) (October 31, 2024 - $1,000 (asset)), hedging 

a portion of the USD $181.3 million investment in VersaBank USA. For the reporting period, a loss of 

$4,222,963 (October 31, 2024 – loss of $13,000) was recognized in other comprehensive income, 

representing the effective portion of the hedge. Since there was no hedge ineffectiveness, there was 

no impact on profit or loss from this hedge. The hedge was assessed as highly effective, supporting 

the Bank’s risk management strategy to stabilize the financial impact of foreign exchange movements. 

Economic Hedges 

As of October 31, 2025, an accounting hedge exists for the remaining USD $42.7 million of the USD 

$181.3 million investment in VersaBank USA. This is achieved through the allocation of part of a USD 

$75.0 million subordinated debt raised by the Bank in April 2021. Both the credit asset (liability) and the 

investment (asset) move in equal and opposite directions, with the liability serving as a hedge against 

rate fluctuations that may affect the valuation of the investment asset. 

As at October 31, 2025, the Bank entered into a foreign exchange forward contract to mitigate foreign 

exchange risk on its net investment in VersaFinance US Corp. This hedging arrangement was 

established during 2025; there were no similar hedges in 2024. The hedge is intended to reduce 

exposure to fluctuations between VersaBank’s functional currency, CAD, and the currency of the net 

investment, USD. Changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument attributable to the effective portion  
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18. Derivative instruments – continued: 

of the hedge are recognized in profit or loss; any ineffective portion, if applicable, is also recorded in 

profit or loss. As at October 31, 2025, the outstanding foreign exchange forward contract had a notional 

value of USD 14.0 million (October 31, 2024 — nil) and a fair value of $1,500 (liability) (October 31, 

2024 — nil). The contract hedges a portion of the USD 14 million investment in Versa Finance US Corp. 

For the year ended October 31, 2025, a loss of $160,300 (2024 — nil) was recognized in profit or loss, 

representing the total impact of the hedge. 

As of October 31, 2025, the Bank utilized a foreign exchange forward contract to mitigate foreign 

exchange risk associated with the intercompany loan denominated in USD, resulting from intercompany 

transfer of assets, which aims to minimize foreign exchange risk related to fluctuations between the 

Bank’s functional currency, CAD, and the foreign currency denominated loan. As of October 31, 2025, 

the outstanding foreign exchange forward contract relating to this intercompany loan had a notional 

value of USD $12.1 million and a fair value of $5,400 (liability). 

19. Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments: 

Risk management involves the identification, ongoing assessment, managing and monitoring of 

material risks that could adversely affect the Bank. The Bank is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, and 

market risks. 

Senior management is responsible for establishing the framework for identifying risks and developing 

appropriate risk management policies and procedures. The Bank’s Board of Directors, either directly 

or indirectly through its committees, reviews and approves corporate policies, including specific 

reporting procedures. This enables them to monitor ongoing compliance with policies, delegate limits 

and review management’s assessment of risk in its material risk taking activities. The Bank’s Chief 

Internal Auditor provides a periodic review of policies and procedures to assess their appropriateness, 

effectiveness and adherence. These reviews also evaluate whether adequate controls are in place to 

maintain risk levels within the parameters established by the Bank's policies. The Chief Internal Auditor 

reports directly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. In addition, the Bank has an ongoing 

risk and compliance management program with the Chief Compliance Officerand the Chief Risk Officer, 

who report directly to the Risk Oversight Committee. 

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a borrower, guarantor, or counterparty’s inability or 

unwillingness to fulfill its contractual obligations. The Bank is exposed to credit risk primarily as a result 

of its credit asset-related activities but also, from time to time, as a result of investing in securities and 

derivative transactions. The Bank manages its credit risk derived from credit asset activity using policies 

that have been recommended by the Chief Credit Officer and reviewed by the Chief Risk Officer prior 

to submission to the Risk Oversight Committee, who then recommends the policies to the Board of 

Directors for approval. These policies consist of approval limits on credit asset amounts, portfolio 

concentration, industry concentration, asset category, credit assets to any one entity and associated  
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19. Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments – continued: 

groups, a risk rating policy that provides for risk rating each asset in its total asset portfolio, and early 

recognition of problem accounts with an action plan for each account. The Risk Oversight Committee 

monitors compliance and reviews these policies on an ongoing basis.   

The Bank manages credit risk associated with securities included in its Treasury portfolio by applying 

policies that have been recommended by the Chief Financial Officer to the Risk Oversight Committee, 

which then recommends the policies to the Board of Directors for approval. These policies consist of 

approval procedures and restrictions in the selection of security dealers, restrictions in the nature of 

securities selected, and in setting securities portfolio concentration limits. The Risk Oversight 

Committee monitors compliance and reviews these policies on an ongoing basis. 

The Risk Oversight Committee, comprised entirely of independent directors, performs the following 

functions related to credit risk: 

• Recommends policies governing management of credit risks to the Board of Directors for approval 

and reviews credit risk policies on an ongoing basis to ensure they are prudent and appropriate 

given possible changes in market conditions and corporate strategy. 

• Concurs with credits exceeding the levels delegated to management, prior to commitment. 

• Monitors and reviews, on a regular basis, watchlist accounts, impaired credit assets and accounts 

that have gone into arrears and expected credit loss analysis on a quarterly basis. 

The Bank assigns a risk rating to each asset comprising its credit asset portfolio. A risk rating is 

assigned as a function of each new credit application, annual review or an amendment to a facility. The 

risk rating considers the credit risk attributes of the credit asset, structure and individual borrower 

circumstances. The Bank aggregates its risk rating assignments into the following three broad 

categories: 

i) Satisfactory – The borrower and credit asset valuation are of acceptable credit quality.  

ii) Watchlist – The borrower or the credit asset valuation exhibits potential credit weakness or a 

downward trend which, if not mitigated, will potentially weaken the Bank’s position. The credit asset 

requires close supervision. 

iii) Classified – The collection of the structural payment and/or the full repayment of the credit asset is 

uncertain.  

As of October 31, 2025, 97% (2024 – 96%) of the Bank’s credit assets were categorized Satisfactory. 

See note 6 for additional information relating to credit risk associated with credit assets.  

There was no material change in the Bank’s processes for managing credit risk during the year.  
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19. Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments – continued: 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet the demand for cash to fund obligations as they 

come due. The Bank is exposed to liquidity risk as a result of timing differences in the cash flows of its 

credit asset-related activities, security investment activities and deposit taking activities. The Bank has 

established policies to ensure that its cash outflows and inflows are closely matched and that its sources 

of deposits are diversified between funding sources and over a wide geographic area.  

The Risk Oversight Committee recommends policies governing management of liquidity risk to the 

Board for approval and reviews liquidity policies on an ongoing basis. It receives and reviews quarterly 

securities portfolio reports and liquidity risk reports from management relating to the Bank’s liquidity 

position.  Additionally, an Asset Liability Committee, consisting of members of senior management, 

monitors liquidity risk, reviews compliance with policies and discusses strategies in this area. 

See note 20 for information relating to liquidity risk associated with the Bank’s asset and liability gaps 

in maturities. There was no material change in the Bank’s processes for managing liquidity risk during 

the year. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of a negative impact on the balance sheet and/or income statement resulting 

from changes or volatility in market factors such as foreign exchange risk, interest rates, or market 

prices. The Risk Oversight Committee is charged with recommending policies that govern market risk 

to the Bank’s Board of Directors for approval and with reviewing the policies on an ongoing basis. 

Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk or currency risk is the risk that transacting in any currency apart from the Bank’s 

base currency can result in gains or losses due to currency fluctuations resulting in the possibility that 

a foreign denominated transaction’s value may decrease due to changes in the relative value of the 

currency pair. Any appreciation or depreciation in the foreign currency versus the local currency will 

give rise to foreign exchange risk. The Bank actively manages any material foreign exchange risk 

exposure derived from the Bank’s normal course business activities through, where possible, the 

establishment of a natural foreign currency hedge or, if necessary, through foreign exchange contracts 

established with high quality counterparties in order to mitigate the impact of changes in foreign 

exchange rates on the Bank’s financial results and position. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that a movement in interest rates could negatively impact spread, net interest 

income and the economic value of assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity. The Bank manages 

interest rate risk by employing a number of methods including income simulation analysis and interest  
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19. Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments – continued: 

rate sensitivity gap and duration analysis. Management prepares regular reports to the Board to allow 

for ongoing monitoring of the Bank’s interest rate risk position. The Asset Liability Committee reviews 

the results of these analyses on a monthly basis and monitors compliance with limits set by the board 

approved corporate policy.  

The management of interest rate risk also includes, as prescribed by regulators, stress testing the 

Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest rate scenarios. 

Standard scenarios that are considered include a 100 basis point (bps) parallel upward and downward 

shift in all yield curves applicable to the Bank.   

The results of an analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to an increase or decrease in market interest rates, 

assuming no asymmetrical movement in yield curves and a static balance sheet are set out below: 

Interest rate position 

 

 

There was no material change in the Bank’s processes for managing interest rate risk during the year.   

As at October 31, 2025, the Bank maintained one outstanding derivative established for asset liability 

management purposes to hedge fair value exposure attributed to interest rate risk (note 18 – Derivative 

instruments) with an amortizing notional amount currently totaling $20.2 million (October 31, 2024 - 

$22.0 million). The Bank also continues to use on-balance sheet strategies to manage its interest rate 

risk. 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Increase 100 

bps

Decrease 100 

bps

Increase 100 

bps

Decrease 100 

bps

Increase (decrease):

Impact of projected net interest

    income during a 12 month period 2,582$          (2,824)$        5,223$          (5,430)$          

Duration difference between assets and

    liabilities (months) (0.9)               (1.6)               

2025 2024
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20. Interest rate risk and liquidity risk: 

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as a consequence of any mismatch, or gap, between assets 

and liabilities scheduled to mature or reset on particular dates. The gaps which existed at October 31, 

2025 are set out below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Floating Within 3 months to 1 year to 2 years to Over Non-interest

rate 3 months 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years rate sensitive Total

Assets

Cash 581,710$        -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     581,710$        

   Effective rate 2.92%

Securities -                       69,778            6,771               -                       -                       4,374               -                       80,923            

   Effective rate 3.86% 3.77% 5.38%

Credit assets 819,260          86,239            336,196          417,528          2,797,605       593,411          16,139            5,066,378       

   Effective rate 6.42% 5.86% 5.29% 5.74% 5.85% 6.38%

Other -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       79,464            79,464            

   Effective rate

Total Assets 1,400,970$     156,017$        342,967$        417,528$        2,797,605$     597,785$        95,603$          5,808,475$     

Liabilities

Deposits 851,362$        633,824$        1,733,111$     785,369$        787,895$        -$                     69,302$          4,860,863$     

   Effective rate 1.39% 3.70% 3.61% 3.88% 4.15%

Subordinated notes* -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       103,516          -                       103,516          

   Effective rate 5.38%

Other 295,662          -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       15,761            311,423          

   Effective rate 2.06%

Equity -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       532,673          532,673          

   Effective rate

Total liabilities and equity 1,147,024$     633,824$        1,733,111$     785,369$        787,895$        103,516$        617,736$        5,808,475$     

Derivative instruments 20,197$          -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     (20,197)$         -$                     -$                     

October 31, 2025 gap 274,143$        (477,807)$       (1,390,144)$    (367,841)$       2,009,710$     474,072$        (522,133)$       -$                     

Cumulative 274,143$        (203,664)$       (1,593,809)$    (1,961,649)$    48,061$          522,133$        -$                     -$                     

October 31, 2024 gap 56,823$          (56,584)$         (1,395,117)$    (180,491)$       1,605,221$     364,838$        (394,690)$       -$                     

Cumulative 56,823$          239$                (1,394,878)$    (1,575,369)$    29,852$          394,690$        -$                     -$                     

*   The fixed rate applies only until May 1, 2026, at which point the obligation switches to floating rate and the notes are redeemable by the Bank, subject to regulatory approval.
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21. Fair value of financial instruments: 

The amounts set out in the table below represent the fair value of the Bank’s financial instruments: 

 

Fair values are based on management’s best estimates of market conditions and valuation policies at 

a certain point in time. The estimates are subjective and involve particular assumptions and matters of 

judgment and as such, may not be reflective of future fair values. The Bank’s credit assets and deposits 

lack an available market as they are not typically exchanged. Therefore, they have been valued as 

described below and are not necessarily representative of amounts realizable upon immediate 

settlement. 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Carrying 

Value

Fair value 

Level 1

Fair Value 

Level 2

Fair Value 

Level 3

Total Fair 

Value

Carrying 

Value

Fair value 

Level 1

Fair Value 

Level 2

Fair Value 

Level 3

Total Fair 

Value

Assets

Cash

   Amortized cost -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             -$             

   FVOCI -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVTPL 581,710       581,710       -               -               581,710       225,254       225,254       -               -               225,254       

Securities

   Amortized cost -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVOCI 80,923         80,923         -               -               80,923         299,300       299,300       -               -               299,300       

   FVTPL -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Credit assets

   Amortized cost 5,066,378    -               -               5,050,931    5,050,931    4,236,116    -               -               4,190,523    4,190,523    

   FVOCI -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVTPL -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Derivative instruments

   Amortized cost -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVOCI -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVTPL -               -               -               -               -               20                 -               20                 -               20                 

Other financial assets

   Amortized cost -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVOCI 953              -               -               953              953              953              -               -               953              953              

   FVTPL -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Liabilities

Deposits

   Amortized cost 4,860,863$  -$             -$             4,918,431$  4,918,431$  4,144,673$  -$             -$             4,182,338$  4,182,338$  

   FVOCI -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVTPL -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Subordinated notes payable

   Amortized cost 103,516       -               99,878         -               99,878         102,503       -               99,152         -               99,152         

   FVOCI -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVTPL -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

Derivative instruments

   Amortized cost -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVOCI -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVTPL 416              -               416              -               416              -               -               -               -               -               

Other financial liabilities

   Amortized cost 310,874       -               -               310,874       310,874       191,071       -               -               191,071       191,071       

   FVOCI -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

   FVTPL -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               -               

2025 2024
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21. Fair value of financial instruments – continued: 

The fair value amounts have been determined using the following valuation methods and assumptions: 

 

• For securities, the combined carrying value and accrued interest approximates fair value. 

• The fair value of credit assets is based on net discounted cash flows using market interest rates 

and applicable credit spreads for borrowers. 

• The fair value of deposits is determined based on discounted cash flows using market interest 

rates. 

• The fair value of subordinated notes payable is determined based on discounted cash flows using 

current market interest rates.  

• The investment in Stablecorp (recorded as other financial assets) is measured at fair value at each 

reporting period with changes in value reflected in the Bank’s other comprehensive income. The 

estimated fair value of the  

Stablecorp investment is classified as Level 3 fair value hierarchy as the determination of fair value 

did not use inputs that were based on observable market data given that the entity is privately-held. 

• The fair value of derivatives is based on net discounted cash flows using market interest rates and 

applicable credit spreads for the counterparty. 

• The fair value of other financial assets is approximately equal to their carrying value due primarily 

to the short-term nature of the instruments.  

• The fair value of other financial liabilities is approximately equal to their carrying value due to the 

short-term nature of the instruments except for lease obligations. However, the fair value of the 

Bank’s lease obligations is approximately equal to their carrying value given that there has been 

minimal movement in the market interest rates associated with these leases. 

• Cash and derivatives are designated as FVTPL.   

• Credit assets, deposits and subordinated notes payable are designated as amortized cost.   

• Securities and other financial assets are designated as FVOCI. 

22. Related party disclosures: 

The Bank provides various banking services to related parties and enters into contractual agreements 

and other operations with related parties. A related party is considered to be a person or entity that has 

the ability to exercise some level of control, influence, or joint control over another entity in making 

financial or operational decisions. The Bank considers the following to be related parties: 

• Its key management personnel and members of their immediate family; 

• Entities which are controlled, significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting power is held 

by key management personnel and their immediate family; and, 

• Significant minority shareholders. 

The Bank’s Board of Directors and Senior Executive Officers represent key management personnel as 

they have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the bank 

both directly and indirectly. 
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22. Related party disclosures - continued: 

Related Party Transactions 

 

1) At October 31, 2025, amounts due from key management personnel totaled $2.0 million (2024 - 

$1.5 million) and an amount due from a corporation controlled by key management personnel 

totaled $3.6 million (2024 - $7.1 million). 

2) The interest rates charged on credit assets and advances to related parties are based on mutually 

agreed upon terms. Interest income earned on related party credit assets for the year ended 

October 31, 2025 totaled $177,000 (2024 - $162,000). 

3) There were no specific provisions for credit losses associated with credit assets issued to key 

management personnel (2024 - $nil), and all credit assets issued to key management personnel 

were current as at October 31, 2025 and 2024. 

4) On April 30, 2024, the Bank redeemed all of its issued and outstanding $5.0 million subordinated 

note payable originally issued in April 2019; $500,000 of this amount was held by a related party 

(note 12).  

The contractual agreements and other transactions with related parties are entered into under 

conditions similar to those offered to non-related third parties. These agreements did not have a 

significant impact on the Bank’s results. 

Compensation of Key Officers and Directors  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Mortgage loans and other loans 5,604$   8,622$   

Subordinated notes payable -            423       

5,604$   9,045$   

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Salaries, benefits and directors' compensation 12,640$ 8,289$   

Share-based payments 1,131     1,133     

13,771$ 9,422$   
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23. Commitments and contingencies: 

a) Credit commitments: 

The amount of credit related commitments represents the maximum amount of additional credit 

that the Bank could be obliged to extend. Under certain circumstances, the Bank may cancel credit 

asset commitments at its option. Letters of credit amounts are not necessarily indicative of the 

associated credit risk exposure as many of these arrangements are contracted for a limited period 

of usually less than one year and will expire or terminate without being drawn upon. 

 

b) Pledged assets: 

In the ordinary course of business, assets are pledged against off-balance sheet letters of credit, 

derivative exposures and to secure public deposits exceeding FDIC insurance limits, totaling  $20.9 

million (2024 - $14.0 million).  

24. Capital management: 

a) Overview: 

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to retain regulator, investor, creditor 

and market confidence, as well as to support the future growth and development of the business. 

The impact of the level of capital held on shareholders’ return is an important consideration and the 

Bank recognizes the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that may be possible 

with greater leverage and the advantages and security that may be afforded by a more robust 

capital position. OSFI sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank. Capital is managed in 

accordance with policies and plans that are regularly reviewed and approved by the Board of 

Directors and that take into account, amongst other items, forecasted capital requirements and 

current and anticipated financial market conditions.   

The goal is to maintain adequate regulatory capital for the Bank to be considered well capitalized, 

protect consumer deposits and provide capacity to support organic growth as well as to capitalize 

on strategic opportunities that do not otherwise require accessing the public capital markets, all 

while providing a satisfactory return to shareholders. The Bank’s regulatory capital is comprised of 

share capital, retained earnings and unrealized gains and losses on fair value through other 

comprehensive income securities (Common Equity Tier 1 capital), preferred shares (Additional Tier  

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Credit asset commitments 589,005$     635,433$     

Letters of credit 46,849         65,671         

635,854$     701,104$     
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24. Capital management – continued 

1 capital) and subordinated notes (Tier 2 capital). The Bank monitors its capital adequacy and 

related capital ratios on a daily basis and has policies setting internal targets and thresholds for its 

capital ratios. These capital ratios consist of the leverage ratio and risk-based capital ratios. 

The Bank makes use of the Standardized Approach for credit risk as prescribed by OSFI, and 

therefore, may include eligible ECL allowance amounts in its Tier 2 capital, up to a maximum of 

1.25% of its credit risk-weighted assets calculated under the Standardized Approach. 

b) Risk-based capital ratios: 

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision has published the Basel III rules on capital adequacy 

and liquidity (“Basel III”). OSFI requires that all Canadian banks must comply with the Basel III 

standards on an “all-in” basis for the purpose of determining their risk-based capital ratios. Required 

minimum regulatory capital ratios are a 7.0% Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio (“CET1”), an 8.5% 

Tier 1 capital ratio and a 10.5% Total capital ratio, all of which include a 2.50% capital conservation 

buffer.  

OSFI also requires banks to measure capital adequacy in accordance with guidelines for 

determining risk adjusted capital and risk-weighted assets including off-balance sheet credit 

instruments as specified in the Basel III regulations. Based on the deemed credit risk for each type 

of asset, both on and off balance sheet assets of the Bank are assigned a weighting ranging from 

0% to 400% to determine the Bank’s risk weighted equivalent assets and its risk-based capital 

ratios.  
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24. Capital management – continued 

The Bank’s risk-based capital ratios are calculated as follows: 

 

As at October 31, 2025 and 2024, the Bank was in compliance with all minimum capital ratios 

prescribed by OSFI. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital

Directly issued qualifying common share capital 325,910$       215,610$      

Contributed surplus 2,473             2,485             

Retained earnings 203,728         181,238        

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 562                (130)               

CET1 before regulatory adjustments 532,673         399,203        

Regulatory adjustments applied to CET1 (23,023)          (25,700)         

Common Equity Tier 1 capital 509,650$       373,503$      

Additional Tier 1 capital 

Directly issued qualifying Additional Tier 1 instruments -$                   -$                   

Total Tier 1 capital 509,650$       373,503$      

Tier 2 capital

Directly issued Tier 2 capital instruments 105,135$       104,370$      

Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments 105,135         104,370        

Eligible stage 1 and stage 2 allowance 5,105             3,303             

Total Tier 2 capital 110,240$       107,673$      

Total regulatory capital 619,890$       481,176$      

Total risk-weighted assets 3,943,657$    3,323,595$   

Capital ratios

CET1 capital ratio 12.92% 11.24%

Tier 1 capital ratio 12.92% 11.24%

Total capital ratio 15.72% 14.48%
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24. Capital management – continued: 

c) Leverage ratio 

The leverage ratio, which is prescribed under the Basel III Accord, is a supplementary measure to 

the risk-based capital requirements and is defined as the ratio of Tier 1 capital to the Bank’s total 

exposures. The Basel III minimum leverage ratio is 3.0%. The Bank’s leverage ratio is calculated 

as follows:  

 

As at October 31, 2025 and 2024, the Bank was in compliance with the leverage ratio prescribed 

by OSFI. 

25. Operating segments: 

Effective as of the transfer of the Bank’s Real Bank Deposit Token™ (RBDT™) (previously known as 

Digital Deposit Receipt, or  (“DDR”) technology to an existing, wholly owned subsidiary (DBG Inc.) of 

DRT Cyber Inc., the Bank has established four reportable operating segments: Digital Banking Canada, 

Digital Banking USA, DRTC, and Digital Meteor (DBG Inc.). These four operating segments represent 

strategic business operations that provide distinct products and services to different markets. They are 

separately managed due to the differences in the nature of each business. The following summarizes 

the operations of each of the reportable segments: 
 

Digital Banking Canada - The Bank employs a business-to-business model using its proprietary 
financial technology to address underserved segments in the Canadian banking market. VersaBank  
 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

2025 2024

On-balance sheet assets 5,808,475$ 4,838,484$ 

Asset amounts adjusted in determining the Basel III

  Tier 1 capital (23,023)        (25,700)        

Total on-balance sheet exposures 5,785,452    4,812,784    

Replacement cost associated with all derivative transactions -$                 -$                 

Add-on amounts for PFE associated with all derivative transactions 3,975           -                   

Total derivative exposures 3,975           -                   

Total off-balance sheet exposure at gross notional amount 635,854$     701,104$     

Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amount (410,571)     (451,759)     

Total off-balance sheet exposures 225,283       249,345       

Tier 1 capital 509,650       373,503       

Total exposures 6,014,710    5,062,129    

Leverage ratio 8.47% 7.38%
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25. Operating segments – continued: 
 
obtains its deposits and invests in the majority of its credit assets electronically via innovative deposit 
and lending solutions for financial intermediaries. 
 

Digital Banking USA - The Bank has adopted a business-to-business model, leveraging its proprietary 

financial technology to address underserved segments of the US banking market. VersaBank USA 

obtains the majority of its deposits and invests in the majority of its credit assets electronically through 

via innovative deposit and lending solutions tailored for financial intermediaries. 

 

DRTC (cybersecurity services and banking and financial technology development) - Leveraging its 

internally developed IT security software and capabilities, VersaBank has a  established a wholly owned 

subsidiary, DRTC, to pursue significant large-market opportunities in cybersecurity and to develop 

innovative solutions to address the rapidly growing volume of cyber threats challenging financial 

institutions, multi-national corporations and government entities. 

 

Digital Meteor -Through its wholly owned subsidiary, DBG Inc. , VersaBank owns proprietary intellectual 

property and technology to enable the next generation of digital assets by the banking and financial 

community, including the Bank’s revolutionary Real Bank Deposit Tokens™ (RBDTs™) (previously 

known as Digital Deposit Receipts, or “DDR”s).   

 

The basis for the determination of the reportable segments is a function primarily of the systematic, 

consistent process employed by the Bank’s chief operating decision maker, the President, and the 

Chief Financial Officer in reviewing and interpreting the operations and performance of each segment. 

The accounting policies applied to these segments are consistent with those employed in the 

preparation of the Bank’s Consolidated Financial Statements, as disclosed in note 3 of the Bank’s 2025 

audited Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Performance is measured based on segment net income, as included in the Bank’s internal 

management reporting. Management has determined that this measure is the most relevant in 

evaluating segment results and in the allocation of resources. 
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25. Operating segments - continued: 

Following is information regarding the results of each reportable operating segment as at and for the 

year ended October 31, 2025 and 2024: 

 

 
Prior to the year ended October 31, 2024, substantially all of the Digital Banking’s operations were 

based in Canada. 

 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Digital Banking Digital Banking Digital Meteor DRTC Eliminations/ Consolidated

Canada USA Adjustments

Net interest income 103,265$             12,903$                -$                          -$                          -$                          116,168$             

Non-interest income 460                       (39)                        2,206                    7,245                    (1,399)                   8,473                    

Total revenue 103,725                12,864                  2,206                    7,245                    (1,399)                   124,641                

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses 4,553                    (140)                      -                            -                            -                            4,413                    

99,172                  13,004                  2,206                    7,245                    (1,399)                   120,228                

Non-interest expenses:

Salaries and benefits 25,785                  5,015                    814                       6,370                    -                            37,984                  

General and administrative 29,560                  3,484                    574                       1,508                    (1,399)                   33,727                  

Premises and equipment 3,677                    722                       820                       1,805                    -                            7,024                    

59,022                  9,221                    2,208                    9,683                    (1,399)                   78,735                  

Income (loss) before income taxes 40,150                  3,783                    (2)                          (2,438)                   -                            41,493                  

Income tax provision 12,538                  1,111                    -                            (614)                      -                            13,035                  

Net income (loss) 27,612$                2,672$                  (2)$                        (1,824)$                -$                          28,458$                

Total assets 5,050,922$          759,733$             10,207$                24,538$                (36,925)$              5,808,475$          

Total liabilities 4,777,508$          498,822$             8,006$                  28,319$                (36,853)$              5,275,802$          

Digital Banking Digital Banking Digital Meteor DRTC Eliminations/ Consolidated

Canada USA Adjustments

Net interest income 101,263$             1,392$                  -$                          -$                          -$                          102,655$             

Non-interest income 698                       1                           1,183                    8,455                    (1,359)                   8,978                    

Total revenue 101,961                1,393                    1,183                    8,455                    (1,359)                   111,633                

Provision for (recovery of) credit losses (134)                      (134)                      -                            -                            -                            (268)                      

102,095                1,527                    1,183                    8,455                    (1,359)                   111,901                

Non-interest expenses:

Salaries and benefits 26,523                  437                       526                       5,298                    -                            32,784                  

General and administrative 18,324                  365                       242                       1,597                    (1,359)                   19,169                  

Premises and equipment 3,292                    105                       120                       1,638                    -                            5,155                    

48,139                  907                       888                       8,533                    (1,359)                   57,108                  

Income (loss) before income taxes 53,956                  620                       295                       (78)                        -                            54,793                  

Income tax provision 14,860                  155                       41                         (11)                        -                            15,045                  

Net income (loss) 39,096$                465$                     254$                     (67)$                      -$                          39,748$                

Total assets 4,602,360$          226,319$             3,434$                  23,564$                (17,193)$              4,838,484$          

Total liabilities 4,343,878$          90,716$                1,371$                  28,894$                (25,578)$              4,439,281$          

October 31, 2024

for the year ended October 31, 2025

for the year ended
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26. Acquisitions: 

 

Acquisition of Stearns Bank Holdingford N.A. 

 

On August 30, 2024 the Bank through its wholly-owned US subsidiary VersaHoldings US Corp., 

acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of shares of Minnesota-based Stearns Bank Holdingford N.A. 

("SBH"), a privately held, wholly-owned subsidiary of Stearns Financial Services Inc. based in St. Cloud, 

Minnesota, for cash consideration of US$14.1 million (CA$19.0 million). SBH is a fully operational, OCC 

(Office of the Comptroller of the Currency)-chartered national bank, focused on small business lending. 

The acquisition followed the approval for acquisition received in June 2024 from OSFI, as well as the 

US’s OCC and the US Federal Reserve. 

 

Upon the close of the share acquisition of SBH, the Bank acquired approximately US$68.4 million 

(CA$92.3 million) in assets and assumed approximately US$54.3 million (CA$73.3 million) in deposits 

and other liabilities and renamed SBH as VersaBank USA.  The acquisition will provide the Bank with 

access to US deposits to support the growth of its Receivable Purchase Program business.  The 

acquisition is expected to be accretive to the Bank’s earnings per share within the first year after closing; 

and, VersaBank USA was well capitalized, as per the OCC’s definition of same, with a Total Capital 

ratio in excess of 10% as at August 30, 2024. 

 

In furtherance of the Bank’s strategic initiatives and in light of current US regulatory requirements, 

management has expressed an intention to divest DRTC, which operates within the financial 

technology industry. Discussions with potential buyers are currently underway. As of October 31, 2025, 

the subsidiary has not been classified as "held for sale" in accordance with IFRS 5: Non-current Assets 

Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (“IFRS 5”), because certain criteria for such classification 

have not yet been met. Specifically, the sale is not expected to be completed within the next 12 months, 

and the subsidiary continues to be integral to the Bank’s operations. Management will continue to 

evaluate the status of the divestiture and will reclassify the subsidiary as "held for sale" once all IFRS 

5 criteria are satisfied. 

 

Certain members of management hold convertible preferred shares in DRTC. In accordance with the 

by-laws of DRTC, the convertible preferred shares will convert automatically, upon a change of control 

event, into an aggregate 28% common share ownership stake in DRTC. 
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26. Acquisitions – continued: 

 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on 

acquisition:  

 

 
 

Intangible asset reflects the value of the customer deposit base acquired, which has been assessed to 

have a useful life of 10 years. Goodwill primarily reflects the value of obtaining an OCC charter national 

bank licence and the value of future growth prospects and expected business synergies realized as a 

result of combining the acquired business with the Bank’s existing Receivable Purchase Program 

business in Canada. 

 

For the year ended October 31, 2025, VersaBank USA contributed $12.9 million (October 31, 2024 - 

$1.4 million) and $2.7 million (October 31, 2024 - $465,000) to the Bank’s net-interest income and net 

income respectively. 

 

The costs associated with the acquisition of SBH totaling $5.7 million were spread across fiscal 2022, 

2023 and 2024. These costs were included in the Bank’s non-interest expense in the respective fiscal 

years. 

27. Comparative information: 

 

The financial statements have been reclassified, where applicable, to conform to the presentation used 

in the current year. The changes do not affect prior year earnings. 

 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)

Asset and liabilities acquired at fair value
August 30, 

2024

Cash 6,900$           
Securities 4,366              
Loans 71,559           
Fixed asset 314                   
Prepaid expenses and other 7                         
Intangible asset 2,592              
Goodwill 6,555              
Deposits (73,238)          
Accounts payable and other (39)                    

19,016$        

  


